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HON. FRANCIS D. FLANDERS, AND JUDGE JOSEPH
R. FLANDERS.

HON. FRANCIS D. FLANDERS, and Judge Joseph R.
Flanders, brothers, reside at Malone, Franklin County,
New York.

They were arrested about seven o’clock, on the morning
of Tuesday, the 22d day of October, 1861, by four Deputy
Marshals, coming in upon them while they were at break-
fust with their families. They were told by the officers that
‘heir instructions were to disregard any writ of Jubeas cor-
pus which might be issued in their behalf, and arrest any
person attempting to take them from their custody, under
any process or authority whatever.

The following is a copy of the order under which the
Deputy Marshal acted :

« DEPARTMENT OF STATE,
Washington, Oct. 11, 1861.
« Epwarp L Cuasg, Esq., United States Marshal of the Northern
District of New York, Lockport:

« Qi : Please confer with the United States District Attorney
for the Northern District of New York, and arrest Francis D.
Flanders, and Joseph R. Flanders, and convey them to Fort
Lafayette.

“Very truly yours,

« Wwu. H. SEwARD.”

There was a regiment of volunteers in camp at Ogdensburg,
about sixty miles from the place of their arrest, the two
places being connected by railroad. The Deputy Marshal
said they had made arrangements for any requisite number
of these soldiers being brought down upon them in case of

any regigtance. The chief officer Who made the arrest told

them that Judge Hall, the United States District Judge for
111
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the Northern District of New York, was at Albany when °
they left, and that if he was still there, they should be taken
before him and have an examination.

But they did not allow them to stop at Albany, and evi-
dently did not intend to do so when they gave this assurance.
They were taken to the cars at ten o’clock, and travelled
night and day, until they reached Fort Lafayette, in the
afternoon of the next day. They were delivered by the
Deputy Marshal to Colonel Burke, at Fort Hamilton, and
by him sent over to, and placed in the custody of a ruffianly
civilian lientenant, of the name of Wood. Ie took from
them all their money, giving a written ackrowledgment for
it. They were then placed in a large battery-room of- the
Fort, in which were five or six guns upon carriages. This
room was then tenanted by forty or fifty prisoners, of' a most
promiscuous gort, and of every variety of character. They
had no tables, chairs, washstands, or bowls, and all the
prisoners had to go out in the square of the Fort to wash,
the weather being cold and frosty. The beds furnished them
at Fort Lafayette were comfortable. All that they had to
eat was cooked by a soldier, and served to them in the soldiers’
mess-room on & common table. Their meals immediately
succeeded those of the soldiers, and consisted, for breakfast,
of a slice of half-boiled fat pork, a slice of very poor stale
bread, and a tin-cup of black, bitter liquid, called coffee, with~
out milk, and sweetened with strong and unpleasant sugar
or molasses. At dinner they had the same kind of bread,
gome thin beef-soup, and boiled beef or pork. For supper,
the same as breakfast.

A day or two before they left for Fort Warren they were
furnished with tables, chairs and pails. They remained in
Fort Lafayette one week, and were then conveyed, on the
steamer State of Maine, together with about a thousand
others, prisoners of war, political prisoners, and a guard, to
Fort Warren, in Boston Harbor. They were on board the
State of Maine some forty hours, including two nights, and
all felt that, overloaded as it was, should a storm arise,



THE BROTHERS FLANDERS. 113

nothing could save them from destruction. The few state-
rooms were occupied by those fortunate enough to get them;
all the rest slept on chairs, round stools, settees, and on the
floor of the deck. They had nothing to eat but hard bis-
cuit and raw meat, with coffee once or twice, without milk,
brought avound in horse-buckets, and dipped out in tin cups.

When they entered Fort Warren, on the morning of the
1st November, no provision had been made for them, and
the first that they got to eat was late in the afternoon, when
a barrel of hard biscuit, and a raw ham set upon the head
of a barrel, were placed on the parade-ground of the fort,
and from these the prisoners made their only meal that day.
Things were but little, if any better, the next day. After that
the prisoners were allowed soldiers’ rationg, but no conve-
niences for cooking, without going into a large room where
there were forty or more prisoners all struggling for the use
of one cominon stove.

When they arrived at Fort Warren, they had nothiug to
sieep on but a stone or brick floor, or some wooden slats like
a gridiron, without beds or blankets. After a week or more
they were furnished with a straw tick and a shoddy blanket,
and some time afterward, with a moss mattress and pillow
and some additional blankets, and an iron bedstead.

After they had been in the Fort some weeks, Seth 1. Haw-
ley, of New York, as agent of Mr. Seward, came to the Fort
and offered to investigate the cases of all prisoners of state,
who would first take the oath prescribed by the Lincoln
Government, called the oath of allegiance.

The prisoners drew up and caused to be handed to him
their reasons for refusing the Lincoln oath, and a protest
against it, of which the following is a copy :

«The undersigned prisoners confined in Fort Warren, Boston
Harbor, having been offered a discharge upon the condition of
our taking the oath prescribed for certain officers of the United
States, by a law passed at the late extra session of Congress,

decline to take said oath, upon the following grounds:-——We
8
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have been guilty of no offence against the laws of our country,
but have simply exercised our constitutional rights as free
cilizens in the open and manly expression of our opinions upon
public affairs. We have been placed here without legal charges,
or indeed any charges whatsoever being made against us, and
upon no legal process, but upon an arbitrary and illegal order of
the Hon, Wm. H. Seward, Secretary of the United States. Every
woment of our detention here is a denial of our most sacred
rights. We are entitled to, and hereby demand an unconditional
discharge ; and, while we would cheerfully take the oath pre-
scribed by the Constitution of the United States, because we are,
always have been, and always intend to be loyal to that instru-
ment, (though, at the same time, protesting against the right of
the Government to impose even such an oath on us as the con-
dition of our discharge,) we cannot consent to take the oath now
required of us, because we hold no office of any kind under the
Government of the United States, and it is an oath unknown to,
and unauthorized by the Constitution, and eommits us to the
support of the Government, though it may be acting in direct
conflict with the Constitution, and deprives us of the right of
freely discussing, and by peaceful and constitutional methods
opposing its measures—a right sacred to freedom, and which no
American citizen should voluntarily surrender. That such is the
interpretation put upon this oath, and such its intended effect,
is plainly demonstrated by the fact that it is dictated to us as a
condition of our discharge from an imprisonment inflicted upon
us for no other cause than that we had exercised the above
specified constitutional rights.
“F. D. FLANDERS.
“J. R. FLANDERS.”

Nothing further was heard of this.

A few weeks afterward the wives of the prisoners, accom
panied by their fathers, and carrying a letter from Hon. E. D.
Morgan, Governor of New York, to the President, urging a
hearing of their cases, proceeded to Washington, and were,
by the kind offices of Hon. Erastus Corning, immediately
introduced to Mr. Lincoln. They stated the object of their
visit, when the President replied that these things belonged
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entirely to Mr. Seward’s department ; he knew nothing about
the s had never heard of their cases before, and they miust
vo to Mr. Seward.

They accordingly went to the office of the Secretary of State,
where they were received very reluctantly, and only through
Mr. Corning’s influence. Scarcely had they become seated
when the Hon. Recretary turned to one of the ladies, and in o
very loud and excited tone of voice,said: ¢ Well 1 what pro-
positions have you got to make?” She rephed: ¢ We did
not come to make propositions, but to demand a trial tor
our bushbands, or their unconditional release.” ¢ No D7 was
the short answer, in o still higher key. Astonished more by
his manner than his answer, a pause ensued, when he said:
“1lave you anything more to say?” Mrs. . D. Flanders
raid© ¢ Our hushands ohject to taking the Lincoln oath, It
are willing to take the outh preseribed by the Constitution.”
Tle replicd: “Any loyal man will take that oath; your hu=-
bands ave traitors; I have put them in there, and they shu'l
stay there.”  She answered: «They are nof traitors.””  ile
suid : “They are traitors; you say they ave not traitors, aned
I say they are traitors; now what are you going to do abont
it?7 Rhie then said: © Governor Morgan wrote a letter to
the President, calling for a trial for them as citizens of Lis
State,” Tle replied: « T don’t care if all the governors n the
world should ask it, they shan’t come out till they take that
oath.” One of the ladies then asked: “ Won't you tell us
what they have done?”  «Tmake no charges; I wou’t argne
with you; they shall take that oath;” was the reply, in the
most excited manner. He then added: “If you haven’t any-
thing more to say, L have done with you; I have nothing
more to say to you.”  Mrs. J. R. Flanders, whose father 13 4
Republican, then asked: “ Won't you hear my father? e
supports your Government, and is a Republican.” The
more shame to hini that he has not brought up his daughter
and ler husband better,” was the dignitied and courteous
answer ot the Ilon. Secretary of State.  Dr. Dates, the father

of Mrs. F. D. Flanders, then said ¢ The gentlemen have
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been in prison almost four mc nths; haven’t you punished
them enough to let them have a trial?” « 1 havemo trial to
give; 1 leave that to my successor;”’ Was the reply. Mr.
Raymond (the Republican) then gaid: «I am sorry to hear
such a remark from you as you made to my daughter a mo-

ment ago.” “I am not sorry. 1 repeat it. You ought to be

ashamed, not to have brought your daughter up better,” said

this model of suavity, and thus the interview ended.

On the 14th day of February, 1862, Hon: Edwin M. Stanton,
who had succeeded Geeneral Cameron, issued an order, by direc-
tion of the President, taking the political prisoners, a8 prisoners
of state, out of the hands of Seward, and placing them under
the control of the head of the War Department, and stating
that all who were not spies of the enemy, or of such charac-
tor that their liberation would be dangerous to the public
safety, would be liberated upon their signing a parole not to
give aid and comfort to the enemy, of which the following 18

a copy:
« ForT WARREN,
Bogton Harbor, Feb. 22, 1862,
«1, (here follows the name,) & prisoner, do pledge my word of

honor, that T will render no aid or’ comfort to the enemies in

hostility to the Government of the United States.
(Signature)”

They signed this parole on the 924 of February, and on
the next day, the 23d, they were landed at Boston, and
Government care for them ceased.

On the twelfth day after the arrest of these gentlemen,
two of the marshals concerned in their seizure returned to
Malone, and, taking with them the sheriff of the county and
several constables to protect them against helpless women
and children, thoroughly cearched their houses and offices,
took from them all the private letters and papers, the accu-
mulation of years, many of them -valuable, and sent them
to the Secretary of State; and up to this time they have not

peen able to-recover them




REV. JUDSON D. BENEDICT.

EV. JUDSON D. BENEDICT is about sixty-one years

of age, of fine physical and intellectual appearance. He
is a minister of the Gospel, of the Campbellite persuasion,
and was born and reared in the State of Vermont. He had
not voted for fifteen years prior to his arrest, which took
place at his residence in East Aurora, Prie County, New
York, September 2, 1862,

On Sunday, the 31st of August, he preached a farewell
germon to his congregation at Aurora, which nunbered some
three or four hundred persons. Ilis text was taken from
« Cprisr’s Servoy ox THE Mouxt.”  The oljectional part
of the sermon was the fact, that he had given it as his
opinion that the command of the New Testament was ex-
plicit that Christians should not engage in wars of any kinda.
e referred to the Constitution of the State of New York.
which granted military exemption to Quakers, and said he
saw no reason why his brethren should not obtain like im-
munity.

If such were not granted in the case of a draft, he adviseq
his brethren not to resist it, but rather, as law-abiding citr-
zens, to submit cheerfully to any penalty the law might im-
pose. 'Te gaid that there was no binding rule of the church;
that a majority of its members held a different opinion; and
that the subject was one for every man to decide for himself,
according to his understanding of the word of God. On
Monday, a complaint was made to Deputy Marshal A. G.
Stevens, that Rev. Mr. Benedict had uttered seditious lan-
guage “‘tending to discourage enlistments,” and requesting
him to come to Aurora and obtain the proof.

Mr. Stevens went to Aurora on Monday night. At a
1R1
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private house that night and the next morning he took the
affidavits of four persons, neither of whom were members of
Mr. B’s church. The contents of these affidavits are to this
day unknown, the Marshal having repeatedly refused to fur
nish the prisoner or his counsel with copies of them. During
the preceding winter, the Rev. George B. Cheever preached
a sermon at the Church of the Pilgrims, in New York, to
about two thousand people, and published the same, in which
he insisted that the policy of the President, in prosecuting
the war, was to restore the Union as it was, and that, if suc-
cessful, it would leave slavery unabolished ; that therefore no
Christian, in any way, could give aid to the Administration
in the prosecution of the war against the rebels, without
sinning against God. Although listened to by many leading
citizens who favored the Administration, and disapproved
by them, none ever thought that Mr. Cheever could be
arrested for the sentiments he had expressed. Yet it was a
strong denunciation of the war, and tended more toward
discouraging enlistments, delivered as it was in a city, and
before five times the number of people, than any sentiment
contained in the sermon which caused the arrest of Rev. Mr.
Benedict.

On the supposed evidence contained in these (mute) afhi-
davits, Marshal Stevens arrested Mr. Benedict at his resi-
dence, before breakfast, on Tuesday morning, September 2.
He took him to Buftalo, and confined him in the guard-
honse at Fort Porter, with other political prisoners as com-
panions in tribulation. Mr. Benedict says: “One was a
¢ wild Irishman, of no possible utility but to cut bog and
consume bad whiskey ; the other, an old German of some
seventy years of age, who could not speak three words of the
English language; and the third a crazy man by the name
of Clark, whose business appeared to be selling ¢ wooden nut-
megs’ and other New England indispensables.” They had
all been arrested for ¢ using language tending to prevent
enlistments.”

Ile remained immured in the filthy guard-house until
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W ednesday morning at 11 o’clock, without having food or
drink offered him. At noon he was transferred to the
county jail, by order of the Marshal. During the transit,
“handeuffs” were applied to the other prisoners, but he was
spared the indignity, and permitted to accompany his custo-
dians without wearing Mr. Stanton’s official and ornamental
jewels.

On the 3d of September, his counsel, Mr. Albert Sawin,
of Buffalo, applied to several Federal officers and citizens for
letters to the Secretary of War, recommending his release. '
®These they all refused.” He then applied to Deputy Marshal
Qtevens for a like recommendation. The Marshal refused,
saying that he had ¢ discretion to exercise in arresting,” but
that he had “mno power to discharge.” Whereupon Mr.
Sawin said to him, “ but the War Department, upon being
advised by you that the Government would be strengthened
by his discharge, would undoubtedly be governed by your
opinion, and order his release.”

To which he replied, ¢ I shall make no such recommenda-
tion.”

The question here arises, “Should a man, under any cir-
cumstances, do that which conflicts with his conscience or is
against good morals.” If a superior makes an order, should
an inferior obey it right or wrong? Only he who is merce-
nary in all the affairs of life, would permit his integrity to be
influenced by the mandate of a superior, when he was con-
scious the order under which he acted was contrary to his
own sense of justice.

The following statement, signed by 2 large number of the
prominent citizens of Aurora, was then presented to Marshal
Stevens. The loyalty and integrity of the subscribers were
certified to by Judges Hall and Sheldon:

“We, the undersigned, would respectfully represent to the
proper authorities, (if they can be reached,) that we are pained to
learn that Rev. J. D. Benedict was arrested on Tuesday morning,
for preaching a sermon in Aurora, on Sunday last, which sermon,

it is alleged wae calculated to discourage enlistments. We, the
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undersigned, attentively listened to said sermon, and can put no

such construction on it.

« AURORA, September 3, 1862.

GeN. AaroN RiILEY,
Horace Hovr,
Danien D. StTItEs,
SABINA POTTER,
Aroxzo HAVENS,
Harry H. PERsON,
NEHEMIAH SMITH,
EraraiM WOODRUFF,
Dorr SPOONER,
WHIPPLE SPOONER,
EDWARD SPOONER,

RoOBERT PERSON,
Ww. D. JoNEs,
TiMoTHY PAINE,
Ww. B. PaINg,
IsatAH PRILLIPS,
Reynorps CoLE,
Joun P. WiLsoN,
HORACE PRENTICE,
N. A. TURNER,
JONATHAN SMITH,
Hvuca MINTON,

together with numerous ladies, members of the church and
congregation.”

Mr. Sawin further inquired of the Marshal, ¢ Will you
certify to the good character of the people of Aurora, who
have signed that statement?” This he obdurately refused to
do. He then applied to the Supreme Court for a writ of
habeas corpus, which was refused him by two of the three
Judges on the bench. Judges Noah Davis, of Albion, and
James G. Hoyt, of Buffalo, refusing the writ, while Judge
Martin Grover, of Angelica, dissented. He then, on the
same day, requested Deputy Marshal Stevens to informally
congent to, or not oppose an allowance of a writ of habeas
corpus by Judge Hall, for the sole purpose of enabling Mr.
Benedict to give bail; that he could give bail, to the amount
of $50,000, to comply with any condition the Federal officers
might impose. Stevens replied be would consent to no such
thing, and ke would «disobey any order for his release on bail,
which Judge Hall might make.” And yet, in the case of Mr.

" Barker, of Gowanda, such bail, with the consent of a Deputy
Marshal of Buffalo, had been given, and Barker released.
Mr. Sawin soon after had an interview with Marshal Chase,
who proposed that, on a future day, witnesses should be ex-
amined on both sides, bef~re a Federal czmmissioner, 1n the




REV. JUDSON D. BENEDICT. 187

regular way, by examination and cross-examination in pub-
lic, and he would forward their depositions to Washington.
This Mr. Sawin agreed to, and on the day fixed, several
men and women who heard the sermon that occasioned
Mr. Benedict’s arrest appeared as witnesses. But instead
of being examined publicly, Marshal Chase insisted that
the affidavits should be drawn in private; that each witness
should be brought to his private room, when he would cross-
examine them in private, which might be written down as a
part of their depositions. This was agreed to, and five hours
were spent by the prisoner’s counsel in the work. When
finished, Marshal Chase said that he might’forward the
papers, and he would write to the Department, recommeud-
ing the restoration of the prisoner to liberty.

Mr. Sawin took the affidavits drawn by Marshal Chase,
with his consent, to his office, and directed his student to
copy them. In about fifteen minutes afterward, and during
Mr. Sawin’s absence, Deputy Marshal Grant entered the oflice
and said to his student: ¢ The Marshal has sent me for those
depositions.” '

The latter replied: “I am copying them.”

Grant then took them from the table and proceeded to the
Marshal’s office, accompanied by the student, Mr. Miller,
who said to Stevens: I am copying the papers.” Stevens
replied ¢ there was no use of copying them, and Sawin knew
it; and Sawin could not make any damned political capital
of it. I want the papers to send off immediately, and if
Sawin wants a copy of them, he can take them and go to h—I
with them.” DBut he nevertheless retained them.

The family and friends of Mr. Benedict waited for a week
after this for word from Washington, but none came. The
papers of Noah B. Clark, who had been committed for « dis-
couraging enlistments,” had been forwarded to Washington
by the United States Marshal two days later, and he was
released.

After the release of Clark, and being unable to learn that

there was any prospect of voluntary action on the part of
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the Marshal or the Secretary of War for the prisoner’s dis-
charge, Mr. Sawin, at the request of Mr. Benedict’s family
and friends, presented the papers to Judge Hall for a writ of
habeas corpus. )

For the benefit of our readers, we give the subjoined copies
of such papers, together with the writ and proof of service,
the return of Best and Stevens, the order of Judge Hall on
Chase, the first petition for a writ of habeas corpus, and the
papers accompanying the same:

To taE Hon. Naruan K. Haryn, United Stafes District Judge for
the Northern District of New York,

“ The petition of Judson D. Benedict shows:

“That he is now confined and restrained of his liberty in the
jail of the County of Erie, by William F. Best, the keeper of
said jail.

« That your petitioner is not committed or detained by virtue
of any process issued by any Court of the United States, or any
judge thereof, or by virtue of the final judgment or decree of
any court, or by virtue of any process of any kind or description.

“That the only cause of such detention by said jailor is a
paper delivered to him by A. G. Stevens, Deputy United States
Marshal, a copy ot which is hereto annexed, marked schedule (A).

“«That A. G. Stevens arrested your petitioner at Aurora,
Tuesday morning, ihe 2d of September inst. All he said to your
petitioner at the time of arrest was: ‘I have an unpleasant duty
to perform; I bave come to arrest you. I suppose you are wil-
ling to go with me without opposition?” Your petitioner re-
plied, ‘Most certainly.’ Said Stevens then took deponent to
Fort Porter, and left him there, where your petitioner stayed
until removed to jail.

«8aid Stevens showed no paper to your petitioner, nor did he
state any cause for such arrest.

« Your petitioner has neither by act nor speech been disloyal
to the Coustitution or laws of the United States, or been guilty
of any violation of any order of the War Department, or of the
President of the United States, or been guilty of any offence or
uct subjecting him to arrest.

«That your petitioner alleges, that such arrest and imprison-
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ment are illegal, for the reason that he has not been charged with

any offence known to the laws, no process has been issued by any

for his arrest; and deponent refers to an-

t Sawin, his counsel, for the only pretence

for his arrest given by the United States Deputy Marshal.

“ Your petitioner therefore prays your Honor to direct and
authorize the issuing of a writ of habeas corpus, to be directed to
caid A. G. Stevens, such Deputy Marshal of the United States,
and William F. Best, aforesaid jailor of the County of Erie,
dirécting and requiring said Deputy United States Marshal and
said jailor to produce the body of your petitioner before your
Honor, that the cause of such imprisonment may be inquired

‘nto, and your petitioner mav be set at liberty.
(Signed) J. D. Benepict.”

court or magistrate
nexed affidavit of Alber

The Northern District of New York,
County of Erie.
« Tudson D. Benedict, being duly sworn, says that he has heard
the foregoing petition gigned by him, read, and knows the con-
tents thereof, and the same is true of his own knowledge.

(Signed) J. D. BEnNEDICT.

« Trr UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, )g
88,

day of September, 1862.
P. G. PARKER,
1. 8. Commissioner for Erie Co.”

« Sworn to before me, this 15th
(Signed)

(“A”)
« MarsuaL's OFFICE,
Buffalo, September 2, 1862,

om Tort Porter, Thomas Cum-

ames Parker, Antoine Quanlict, Noah B. Clark, and Jared
confined there, committed under orders of

m to the Erie County jail
and

«Pavid M. Grant will take fr
mings, J
Benedict, prisoners
{he War Department, and remove the
for safe-keeping, and there detain them until further order,
the sheriff or jailor of said county will keep them, until furtber
order, in said jail.

(Signed)

A. G, STEVENS,
U. S. Deputy Marshal

« To Cor. E. P. Cuarin, and the
Sheriff and Jailor of Erie County.”
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Northern District of New York,
County of Erie.

«“Albert Sawin, counSellor at law, being duly sworn, 8ays that,
at the request of the above-named Judson D, Benedict, on the
3d day of September inst., he inquired personally of Deputy
United States Marshal Stevens, at his office in Buffalo, if lie
arrested said Bencedicet by virtue of any order, process, or paper.
He said he did not, but he showed deponent a slip cut from a
newspaper, printed, a copy of which is hereto annexed, and said
that printed slip was his only authority for the arrest of said
Benediet.

“ UNTTED STATES OF AMERICA, );
s

(Signed) ALBERT SAWIN

“Sworn this 15th day of Scptember, 1862.
(Signed) P. G. Parker, U. 8. Commissioner.”

“WaR DEPARTMENT,
August 8, 1862.
“ORDERED :

“First. That all United States Marshals, and Superintendents
and Chiefs of Police of any town, city, or district, be and they
are herchy authorized and directed to arrest and imprison any
person or persons who may be engaged by act, speech, or writing
in disconraging volunteer enlistments, or in any way giving aid
and comfort to the enemy, or for any other disloyal practice
against the United States.

“Second. That immediate seport be made to Major T.. C. Tur-
ner, Judge Advocate, in order that such persons may be tried
before a military commission,

“Third. The expense of such arrest and imprisonment will be
certified to the Chief Clerk of the War Department for settle-
ment and payment. e

(Signed) Epwin M, Sranrtox,
Secretary of War,”

INDORSEMENT ON PETITION.

“NortaerN Districr oF NEw YORK, ss.

“On the within petition I allow a writ of habeas corpus, to be
directed to Albert G. Stevens, United States Deputy Marshal,
and William F. Best, the keeper of Erie County Jail, and made
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returnable on the 18th day of September inst., at 10 a. ., before
me; and I direct the Clerk of the District Court to prepare tka
wriy, that T may indorse an allowance thereon.

(Signed) N. K. Harr,

U. 8, District Judge.
“ Dated September 15, 1862.”

THE WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS, :
“Tue PRESIDENT OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

To Albert (. Stevens, Deputy Marshal of the United States, and
[1.5.] William F. Best, the Keeper of the Erie County Jail,

Greeting :

“You arc hereby commanded, that you have the body of
Judson D. Benedict, by you imprisoned and detained, as it is
sald, together with the time and cause of such imprisonment and
detention, by whatsoever pame the said Judson D. Benedict
shall be called or charged, before the Honorable Nathan K, Iall,
Distriet Judge of the United States for the Northern District of
New York, at the United States Court-room, at the corner of
Washington and Sencea Streets, in the City of Buffalo, in
said Northern District of New York, at ten o’clock in the fore-
noon of the eighteenth day of September, in the year of our
Lord one thousand eight hundred and sixty-two, to do and re-
ceive what shall then and there be considered concerning the
tuid Judsou D. Benedict. And have you then and there this writ.

“Witness, the Ilon. Nathan K. Hall, Judge of the District Court
of the United States for the Northern District of New York, at
the city of Buffalo, the sixteenth day of September, in the year
of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and sixty-two.

(Signed) Geo. Goruay, Clerk.”

INDORSEMENT.
*NORTHERN DisTrICT OF NEw YoRrx, ss.

“The within writ, on petition of the within named Judson D.
Benedict, has been allowed, and hereby is allowed by me, in pur-
tuance of the statute in such case made and provided, September
16, 1862.

(Signed) N. K. Haxwr,
District Judge of the United States, for the Northern
District of New York.”
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THE JAILOR’S RETURN TO THE WRIT.

nTo e Hon. Naruan K. Hawy, Judge of the United States for
the Northern District of New York:

i The statement of William F, Best respectfully showeth:
«That he is now, and since the first day of September instan.

~ has been the keeper of Erie County Jail. That on or about the

third day of September instant, he received into said jail one
Judson D. Benedict, by the name of Jared Benedict. That he
received him under and by virtue of a written order signed by
A.G.Stevens, as a Deputy Marshal of the United States, of which
a copy is hereto annexed, and not otherwise. That since he so
received the said Benedict he has held and now holds him by
virtue of said order, and no other order or process; that he has
held and so holds him as the hailee or custodian of said Deputy
Marshal and his principal, and not otherwise. That on or about
the sixteenth day of September instant, he was served with a
writ of habeas corpus, issued by your ITonor, directed to said A
G. Stevens, and to him the said William F. Best, as keeper of the
Erie County Juil, commanding them, among other things, to bring
and bave the body of the said Judson D. Benedict, and said writ
before your Honor as such Judge, on the eightecnth day of
September instant, at 10 o’clock A.m., at the United States Court-
room, in Buffalo. That in obedience to said writ, it was the in-
tention of me, the said William F. Best, in good faith, to bring
and have the body of the said Benedict before your Honor at the
time and place last aforesaid, as by the said writ commanded,
and to that end I, the said William F. Best, had made and an-
nexed to said writ my return thereto, which return comprised
a copy of the order under which said Benedict was held by me,
and a statement that it was by virtue of that alone that I beld
him, and that I produced the body of said Benedict before your
Honor, as by the said writ commanded. That this morning, at
about the hour of half-past nine o’clock, in the office of Edward
L. Chase, the Marshal of the United States for the Northern
District of New York, in Buffalo, the said Edward I. Chase
asked me to let him take and look at said writ and return. That
not suspecting bad faith on his part, and believing that he would
roturn the same to me, and at the suggestion of Axher P.
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Nickols, my counsel, I handed_the same to him. That after ex-
awining the same he said it was his writ, and refused to return
it to me. That thereupon, I made a formal demand on him for
the same, which demand he refused to comply with. That having
vo writ, I cannot have here the said writ or make a formal re-
turn thereto, as by the said writ I was commanded ; nor can I
have the body of said Judson D. Benedict here, as commanded by
gaid writ, for the reasons above stated.
“ Dated, September 18, 1862,
(Signed) Wirriam F. Besr.

“ NorTHERN Districr or NEW York, ss.

“William F. Best being sworn, says he is the person described
in and who signed the within statement; that he has heard the
same read and knows the contents thereof, and the same is in all
respects true, as he verily believes.

(Signed) WiLLiam F. Brsr.

"*Subscribed and sworn this 18th day of September, 1862, be-
fore me.

(Signed) N. K. Havr, U. S. District Judge.”

“ UNITED STATES OF AMERTCA,
Northern District of New York, }ss.
County of Erie, S

“Albert Sawin, being duly sworn, says he is counsel for Judson
D. Benedict, named in a writ of habeas corpus, a copy of which
is bereto annexed, and also a copy of original order of allowance
indorsed thereon.

“That on the sixteenth day of September inst., he served the
said writ of habeas corpus, with said copy and order, upon Albert
7. Stevens, the Deputy Marshal therein named, by delivering a
copy of the same, and of said order of allowance, so indorsed
personally, to said Stevens personally, at the city of Buffulo, and
at the same time showing him the said original writ, and said
original order, indorsed thereon. That on the same day he de-
livered to said William F. Best, keeper of the common jail of the
County of Frie, personally, said original writ, with said order
indorsed thereon, That this morning, about the hour of eight

o'clock, deponent paid to said William F. Best, two dollars and
13 N
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fifty cents, being the fees named by him, allowed by law for the
return to and execution of said writ, who received the same.

«That on the morning of the 17th day of September inst., de-
ponent was present at an interview between said Stevens and
said Best. in which said Stevens told said Best he had received
instructiong from the War Department to resist said writ, and
he, said Stevens, directed said Best not to obey it, such being the
order of the War Department. Deponent said, ¢ Of course Mr.
Best will obey the writ, and bring Benedict before Judge Hall!
Said Stevens said he would bave a force to prevent. Deponent
said, ¢ Mr. Best, I will be present to-morrow morning as one to
assist you in obeying said writ, though at the peril of being
shot’ Said Stevens replied, ¢ Then you will be shot, and I will re-
port you to the War Department.

« Deponent further says, that this forenoon he ingiired of said
Stevens what fees he demanded for making return to said writ
of habeas corpus, and informed him he, deponent, was ready to
pay the same; the only reply he made was, «No matter.”

(Signed) ALBERT SAWIN.

« Sworn and subscribed this 18th day of September, 1862.
(Signed)  A.P. Nicrots, U. S. Commissioner.”

Depury MARSHAL STEVENS'S RETURN TO WRIT.

¢ To tae How. NarEan K. Harr, District Judge of the United
States for the Northern District of New York:

« The annexed paper was delivered to me. Tt purports to be
a writ of habeas corpus. It is not under the seal of the Court;
the signature to the same is not the handwriting of the Clerk,
nor is the signature to the allowance indorsed on the same in
the handwriting of your Honor, nor is it certified to be a copy
of an original process. I understand that an original writ was
served upon, and is in the hands of William 7. Best, one of thee
persons to whom the same is directed ; the said Best refuses to
allow me to have said writ, or recognize any authority on my
part to the prisoner therein named, or to allow me to have the
custody and control of the prisoner, and claims that he alone
should make return to said writ. I would further state that
said prisoner was legally arrested by me by authority of the
President of the United States, and delivered by me in custody,
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under such authority, in the jail of Erie County; where I placed
Lim for safe keeping merely, and where he now i3, and that I
still have lawful right to said prisoner; but the jailor of said Erie
County jail, on demand of said prisoner this day made by me
of him for said prisoner, refused to deliver said prisoner to me,
as he rightfully and lawfully should do. I further state that no
return made by said Best, to said writ, can present the true facts
of the case, or the cause of the detention of said prisoner.
(Signed) ALBERT G. STEVENS.
U. S. Deputy Marshal.”

IN HABEAS CORPUS.

“In the Matter of Judson D. Benedict.

« It appearing to my satisfaction, by the affidavit of William
F. Best, that Edward I. Chase, now present, has received from
him, on request, aud detained from him, against his will, the writ
of habeas corpus heretofore issued in this matter, (and directed
and delivered to said William F. Best,) and thercby prevented
his obedience to said writ; I hereby order and direct the said
Edward 1. Chase to deliver the said writ to the gaid Best, or to
the undersigned, or show cause, before me, at the United States
Court-room in Buffalo, at half-past two o’clock this afternoon,
why he shall not be committed for a contempt.

N. K. HawLr,
«September 18, 1862. U. 8. District Judge.”

Albert G. Stevens, Deputy Marshal, was made a party as
well as the jailer, who had his actual custody. The return of
Stevens is a curiosity. The object of making Stevens a party
was to cnable him to produce any evidence showing Benedict
had done anything worthy of bonds. He declined to do this.
Marshals Chase and Stevens had previously declared that
Jailer Best should not take Benedict from the jail to Judge
Hall’s court-room, and they would use force to prevent it.
Accordingly, in the absence of the Colonel of the regiment,
Marshal Chase procured from Camp Morgan a company of
goldiers, and placed them in the vicinity of the jail for the
purpose of exscuting that threat. The friends of the jailer.

Best, were likewise in the vicinity in sufficient nun:oers to
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enable him to obey the writ, no matter how much force the
Marshal might have obtained. However, without opfosi-
tion, the loyal jailer was permitted to obey the writ.

«U. 8. Districr Couvrr.—.Judge Hall presiding.
September 18th.

The case of the writ of habeas corpus commanding A. G.
Stevens, Deputy United States Marshal, and Wm. F. Best, Jailor,
of Erie County, to produce the body of Rev. Judson D. Benedict
in court, was before the court.

« A. Sawin made a statement of the service of the writ of
habeas corpus upon the jailor of the Brie County jail.

« A. P. Nichols, Esq., the attorney for the jailor, made a return,
stating that the jailor bad handed the writ of habeas corpus to
United States Marshal Chase, by the advice of his attorney, and

- that Mr. Chase had refused to return it to him, and that it was
impossible to return either the writ or the prisoner. )

« United States Marshal Chase claimed that the prisoner was
in his custody, having been arrested by order of the President,
through the Secretary of War; that the jailor was simply a ma-
chine, and that he was the proper custodian of the prisoner.

«This was the position taken by United States District Attor-
ney Dart.

« Mr. Nichols claimed that the prisoner was now held by the
jailor by virtue of the writ of habeas corpus, and that he could
not surrender him until that writ was vacated.

« After a somewhat extended argument, Judge Hall made an
order that Marshal Chase return the writ to the jailor; and that
he make a return at two and a half o’clock, etc.

« The court adjourned till that hour.”

During the recess of the court, Marshal Chase offered to
deliver up the writ of habeas corpus, which he had withheld
from Jailer Best, on the condition. that the jailer would
deliver the prisoner nto his custody. This the jailer refused ;
and before two o’clock Marshal Chase surrendered the writ,
evidently not wishing to disobey the order of the court.

The jailer, now being in possession of the writ, took the
prisoner, in company with Sheriff’ Best, and escorted him to
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the court-room, where he was cordially greeted by many
of his friends.

*“ United States Marshal Chase came into court and delivered
to the Judge a return to the writ of habeas corpus, setting forth
by what authority his deputy had arrested the prisoner, and that
the writ of Labeas corpus having been suspended, and he ordercd
Lo resist any attempt to execute it, he could not obey the order
of the court.  This was understood to be the eubstance of the
return.

¢ Marshual Chase requested the jailor to give hin. a copy of the
order of the court compelling him to return the writ,

“The Judge said a copy would be furnished him.,

“.\. P Nichols, Fsq., then made the proper return to the writ,
and produced Revo J. D. Benedict in conrt.

“United States District Attorney Dart said, that a turnkey
bad in =ome way obtained possession of a United States prisoner,
arrested by order of the President of the United States, through
the Reeretary of War, for uttering seditious langnage, or language
calenlated to weaken the confidence of the people in the Govern-
nent. In such cases, the President suspended the writ of halbeus
corpus, and ordered that forcible resistance be made to its execution.
He hoped that the occasion for arrests under this order had
ceased, and that there would be no conflict of jurisdiction in this
cuse.  He asked the suspension of proceeding until Tuesday fol-
lowing, trusting that the matter might be satisfactorily arranged
before that time.

“Albert Sawin opposed the postponement. It was important
that the great question of personal liberty, in connection with
the arbitrary arrests, should be disposed of by a legal tribunal.

“Judge Hall said the real question at issuc was whether the
President had the power to suspend the writ of habeas corpus, and
if this was the question to be argued, the time asked was not
unreasonable.  He was anxious that the matter should be fairly
canvassed, and a conflict of authority avoided. He would, there-

fore, grant the request of the United States District Attorney,
and adjourn the case to Tuesday next, September 28, at 11 4.5,

meanwhile the prisoner to remain in the custody of the jailor, 1o
be aguin produced in court at the time named.
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‘«The District Attorney desired the Judge simply to remand
the prisoner, without naming the custodian.

«Mr. Sawin opposed this. The Marshal wished to gain posses-
sion of the prisoner for the purpose of placing him in military
custody, and beyond the jurisdiction of the court.

#A, P. Nichols, fisq., asked the court to make an order stating
by what authority the jailor held the prisoner, whether by order
of the Marshal, or under the writ of habeas corpus and the order
of this court. He wished the duty and the authority of the
jailor clearly defined. '

« Mr. Dart desired that the court would make no such order,
but simply remand the prisoner, He thought the court ought to
have confidence in the Marshals, and believed they would respect
the court.

«Judge Hall said the custody of the prisoner will continue with
the jailor as it is now. The prisoner is now held by virtue of the
writ of habeas corpus. He is removed from the custody of the
Marshal or Deputy Marshals, and neither of them can interfere
with him until the hearing and determination of this writ.

« Marshal Chase wished to know whether his authority in this
2ase was at an end.

«“The Judge replied, that he had as much and no more to do
with it than any other citizen. If he, or any other man, knew
of any crime the prisoner had comitted, it was his duty to
inform against bim, that he might be punished according to law.
It was especially the duty of the United States District Attor-
ney to ascertain the facts and proceed against bim, if he had
been guilty of any violation of the laws of the land.”

The following is the copy of the order of Judge Hall in
the case:
“ON THE HABEAS CORPVS
“ In the Matler of Judson D, Benedict.

«The said Judson D, Benedict having this day been brought
pefore me by W. F. Best, the keeper of the common jail in the
County of Erie, in obedience to the annexed writ of habeas corpus,
and the hearing under the said writ, and the return made thereto,
having, at the request of the Hon. Wm. H. Dart, United States
District Attorney, been adjourned until Tuesday, the 23d day of
September, at eleven o’clock in the forenoon, it is hereby ordered,
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on the motion of the counsel for the defendant, that the said
Judson D. Benedict be and he is hercby remanded and coni-
mitted 1o the custody of Wm. F. Best, as such jailor, to be kept
and detained by him under the authority of such writ of habeas
corpus, and this order, until the time to which said hearing is so
adjourned ; and that said Wm. F. Best produce and bring the
body of the said Judson D, Benedict and the said writ of Aabeas
corpus before the nndersigned, at the United States Court-room,
i the city of Buffalo, on the 23d day of September inst. at 11
o lock Ao, then and there to do and receive what shall then
and there be considered in that behalf,
(Signed) N. K. IIaLy,
U. S. District Judge.
“September 18, 1862

Afrer the necessary papers were made out, Rev. Mr. Bene-
diet walked, in company with Mr. Best, back to his apart-
ments at the jail. Tt was rumored that the Marshal would
attewpt the rescue of the prisoner, but this was unfounded.

« U. & Distrier Cotrr, — Buffalo, September 284, 18062

. “Shortly before 11 o'clock, the prisoner appeared in court,
in company with the jailor, Wm. F. Best. A P. Nichols, Esq.,
attorney for the jailor, handed up the original writ of habeas
corpus. with the ovder of the Judge, remanding the prisoner to
jail, engrossed upon it.

“«The court did not understand that any demurrer had been
made to the writ as returned, or issue taken on the facts stated
in the retnrn,

“ Albert Sawin, Esq., claimed that the return,.as made, stated in
what manner the prisoner was arrested and was held, sufficiently
clear to enable the court to determine that the arrest is illegal.
and that the prisoner should be discharged.

“ The court inquired if the United States District Attorney was
to be present, and directed the officer of the court to inquire if
the District Attorney desired to be heard in the case.

“Marshal Chase soon after appeared in court, and held a conver-
gation with Judge Hall, which was not audible. After the close
of the interview, the Court announced that the U. S. District At-
torney did not propose to appear, or to make any further state

I
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ments to the Court, or furnish any proofs in the case; that neither
the Marshal nor his Deputy, Stevens, would appear; and that, so
far as they were concerned, the case was left to the Court in its
present condition.

«The Court desired to say to any person and to all persons
present, that if they knew of any crime that the prisoner had
committed against the laws of the United States, or any cause of
arrest, other than that set forth in the return, they should make
it known. He had prepared an opinion in the case, embodying
its legal bearings, which he should publish as his justifieation.”

The opinion of Judge Hall, discharging the Rev. Mr. Bene-
dict on writ of Aaheas corpus, is replete with learming and
research, and we regret that want of space prevents us from
presenting it to the reader in full. e refers to English and
American statutes and constitutions from the settlement of
England by the Saxons to the present time, and cites from
the Magna Charta, the Petition of Right, the Bill of Rights,
the Act of Settlement, and quotes tfrom Hume, Hallam, Black-
stone, Story, and other authors. Ile refers to the declsions
of the purest and ablest jurists of England and Awerica in
support of lus opinion, and concludes his erudite and profonnd
reasoning as follows:

“The decisions referred to have been before the profession
and the country for more than forty years; and, so far as I
know, they had not, until a very recent period, been ques-
tioned, or their doctrines assailed by any respectable jurist.
T cannot but eudeavor to follow, though with feeble and un-
steady steps, in the paths of constitutional duty, clearly and
distinctly marked with the ineffaceable footprints of Marshall,
of Story, of Washington, of Livingston, of Martin, and of
Taney ; and, guided by the serene and steady light of their
recorded opinions, I may certainly hope not to go far astray.”

This opinion alone stamps Judge Hall as one of the purest,
most learned, and upright jurists that America has produced.

At the conclusion of the opinion, Judge Hall made an
srder discharging the prisoner from arrest, no cause having
been shown why he should be detained.

e
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The following is a copy of Lis order:

“IN HABEAS CORPUS,
. “In the Matter of Judson D. Benedict.

“The suid Judson D. Benediet, having this day been again
bronght before me in pursuance of the annexed writ of habeas
corpus and order, and the counsel of the said petitioner having
filed & demnurrer to the return of the said writ, made by W, R,
Best, juilor, and to the statement heretofore made by A. G.
Stevens, Deputy Marshal, (ro one appearing to oppose the dis-
chargey T having proceeded ex-parte to hear and consider the case
as now presented, and determined that no legal cause for the
arrest, imprisonment, and detention of the said Benedict is shown
by said return, or said statement and return, and having invited
all persons present to make proof, if any could be made, that the
said Benedict had been puilty of any offence against the laws of
the United States; or was subject to arrest for any canse other
than that appearing on said return, and no such proof being

L oftered, T do hereby order and divect that the said Judson D.
Benedict beand s heveby discharged from cnstody.
(Signed) N, K. ITarr,
U. 8. District Judge.”

Marshal Chase stated that previous to the issning of the

writ ot Lulens corpus by Judge Iall, ie had written to the

War Department, recommending the release of Mr. Benedict,

and that hie would have heen released before, had it not Leen

for the atteinpt of Rawin to raise an issue with the United

States Government.  Mr. Benedict, who had heen discharged

from arrest by the order of the Lighest court lown to the

Constitution, was again arrvested by the United States Mar-

shals, although his release had heen recommended by Mr.

L Chase.  Reveral members of the police force were seen to

enter the court and disperse themselves about thie room,

while Marshial Chase, and Deputy Tyler, of Lockport, sought

positions near the then free citizen of the United States,

standing in the Temyple of Justice, and awaiting a copy of
the proclamation of emancipation just issued by the Judge.

\ As o0 0+ e received a copy of the order, Officer Tyler
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was observed to speak to him, and the reverend gentleman,
with his papers in his hand, demanded to be shown the
authority for his arrest. e said he did not propose to resist,
but wished to know by whose orders he was seized. He was
told, “ We will show you the authority, when we get you where
we want you.” He was hurried, Marshal Chase on one side
of him, and Officer Tyler on the other, down the stairs, and
to a carriage in waiting, in which Deputy Marshal Stevens
sat. A large crowd gathered about the carriage, and much
feeling was exhibited, but no attempt was made to rescue
the prisoner. The carriage was driven off, Marshal Chase on
the box with the driver, and the prisoner inside with Officers
Tyler and Stevens. This was done by special order of the War
Department to Marshal Chase, directing him to resist the
writ, or, in the event of the prisoner’s discharge, to re-arrest
him. Mr. Sawin again applied to Judge Hall for a writ of
habeas corpus, which was granted, and served upon the Mar-
shal by Harvey B. Ransom, as the annexed return will show:

“1UINITED STATES OF AMERICA, .
Northern District of New York, {7

“Harvey B. RansoM, being duly sworn says: that he is well
acquainted with Edward I. Chase, named in annexed copy of
writ of habeas corpus. That he served upon said Chase, at the
city of Buffalo, on the 23d day of September inst., at or about the
hour of five o’clock p.M. of that day, an original writ of habeas
corpus, with the original order of allowance, signed by Judge
Hall, indorsed thereon, copies of which writ and order are hereto
annexed, by delivering the same, at the time and place aforesaid,
to said Chase personally. That deponent and said Chase went
yesterday afternvon, on same train of cars, to Lockport. Depo-
nent saw, after his arrival, within named Benedict in front of said
Chase’s office, at Lockport, said Chase, as. deponent was informed,
being in his office at the time.

(Signed) Harvey B. Ransom.

“Sworn and subscribed before me, this 24th day of Septembe.

1862.

(Signed) A. P. Nicuois, U. 8. Commissioner.!




K]

REV. JUDSON D. BENEDICT. 203

The writ of hateas corpus was made returnable at 10 o’clock
s, on Thursday, the 25th inst., at the United States Court-
room in Buffalo, at which time United States Marshal Chase
made the following return, to wit:

“Mo e Hon. Natwan K. Havn, District Judge of the United
States for the Northern District of NewYork:

“The annexed writ was delivered to me between five and six
o’clock in the afternoon of the 23d day of September last.  Be-
fore that time, and about noon of that day, Judson D. Benedict,
the person named in said writ, had been arrested by me for dis-
loyal practice, by order of the President of the United States,
and put in charge of Daniel G. Tucker, with direction to convey
him to the Old Capitol Prison in the city of Washington, and
said Tucker immediately left Buffalo with the prisoner for that
PU)'}'}US\}.

¢ Under general orders made by the President, through the
War Departiment, bearing date the I3th of Sugust, 1862, suid
Benedict had been, on September 2, 1862, arrested by my deputy,
A. G. Stevens, for such disloyal practice, and said deputy was
ordered by the War Department to detain him in custody until
the further order of said Department. For safe kecping, gaid
Benedict was removed from Fort Porter to the juil of Erie
County.

“ Afterward, as is said, a writ of habeas corpus, directed to said
Stevens and William F. Best, the jailor, was delivered to said
jailor, The War Department was informed by said Stevens of
the allowance of said writ, and said Stevens was directed by said
Department not to regard said writ.  But said William F. Best,
the jailor, refused to allow me or my deputy, Mr. Stevens, to
have any control of the prisoner, or of the writ, and avowed his
intention to make return to said writ, and produce the prisoner
before your Honor.

“1informed the War Department of such refusal and avowal.
In answer, I received an order made by the Secretary of War,
saying, in substance: ¢ Your deputy, Mr. Stevens, was directed
to disregard the writ of habeas corpus. If Stevens or the jailor
permits Benedict to be discharged on hebeas corpus, arrest him
again, and convey him to the Old Capitol Prison at Washington.’
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“The original order was delivered by me to Mr. Tucker, into
whose charge I delivered the prisoner, and I have no perfect
copy. The above is a substantial copy, and in all essential par-
ticulars is correct.

“In pursuance of such order, after said Benedict was, on the
23d inst., discharged from the custody of said Best, and said Ben-
edict had left the United States Court-room, I arrested him, and
put him in charge of Mr. Tucker, with the directions abové
stated.

‘“ A formidable insurrection and rebellion is, as is well known,
now in progress in this country, and the writ of habeas corpus
suspended, and the President of the United States, by one of the
orders above referred to, made on the 8th of August, declares the
same to be suspended in case of disloyal practices. I would also
refer your Honor to the proclamation of the President of the
United States of the 24th September inst.

“I, therefore, understand that the above arrests are military
arrests, in relation to which the writ of habeas corpus is sus-
pended. 1 have, however, out of respect to your Honor, and the
judicial authority of the country, thought it my duty to return
to you the annexed writ of Aabeas corpus, and make the fore-
going statement. Very respectfully,

(Signed) Epwarp 1. CHask,

V. S. Marshal.
“Dated the 25th of September, A.D, 1862.”

After the prisoner had been placed in a carriage, with three
Deputy Marshals as a special guard, he was driven to Lock-

port, in the County of Niagara, a distance of about forty
miles.

At about 9 o’clock P.M., he was a
and conveyed through highways

the next Inorning,

gain placed in a carriage,
and byways, until 3 o’clock
when he arrived at Batavia, a few miles
Jrom Buffalo, on the Central Railroad., At 6 o’clock, he was
placed on the cars for Canandaigua, and from there to New
York, thence to Baltimore,
he remained for some wee
Prison.

Wheun the

and finally to Washington, where
ks an inmate of the Old Capito:

Majesty of the Despotism that ruled at Wash-
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Aot

sngton became appeased, Mr. Benedict was taken before one
of the instruments of its tyranny, L. C. Turner, Judge Ad-
vocate, who received the reverend gentleman with one of his
hypocritical smiles. After the usual interchange of cour-
tesics, the Judge Advocate informed Mr. Benedict that he
was discharged. (He was released on the 2d October, 1862.)
Mr. Benedict ventured to inquire why he had been impris-
oned. Ok, said the Judge Advocate, « it was only to show
the people that the military power is now above the civil power.”
The Bourbons and Napoleons in France, the Stuarts and
other despots in England, all pleaded the “necessity of cir-
cumstances ” for their arbitrary acts of power, and their
infringemient on the rights and liberties of the people.
TLouis XIV., of France
no farther

to go back iuto historic times
said, T aym trE Stare.” James of England
said to the Duke of Somerset, who told the King that
he could not obey him without violating law, T will make
you fear me as well as the law. Do you not know that I am
above the law?”” Aund this monarch said to his Parliament:
“ For matters of privileges, liberties, and customs, be not
over-curious. We do what is for the best, and as necessity
prompts. Let not any one stir you up to law questions,
debates, or that sort of thing, for of these cometh evil.”

Mr. Lincoln acted on the principle established by these
arbitrary monarchs.




HON. PHINEAS C. WRIGHT.

ON. PHINEAS C. WRIGHT, now a resident of the city
of New York, is a native of Rome, Oneida County,
State of New York, and was forty-four years of age at the
timeof his arrest. He removed from New York to New Orleans,
thence to St. Louis, about a year prior to the beginning of
the war, and when arrested, was a citizen of Missouri. He
was incarcerated fifteen months —one day in Fort Wayne,
eleven months in Fort Lafayette, and four months in Fort
Warren, and was never permitted to know of what he was
accused, nor who was his accuser.

On the morning of the 27th of April, 1864, he was at
Grand Rapids, Michigan, on business, and was arrested at
the Rathbun House,” by Captain Wilson, of the 20th Iu-
fantry, United States Army, commanding Fort Wayne.

The order for his arrest ran thus:

«You will proceed to the Russell House, in the city of Detroit,
or wherever else he may be found, and arrest P. C. Wright,
formerly a New Orleans lawyer, whose plantation and slaves
now confiscated, who is now staying at said house. You will
take him to Fort Wayne in a carriage; treat bim with courtesy
as a gentleman. You will confine him in a room by himself, and
make him comfortable. You will allow no one to communicate
with him. You will be careful to secure any papers he may

have with him.
(Signed) J. RanpoLrn SMITH,

Colonel U. 8. A,
Commanding Department of Michigan.”

This order was placed in the hands of Captain Wilson a
few days after Mr. Wright bhad started from Detroit, for

Grand Rapids. Learning of his absence from Detroit, the
' 218
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Captain followed him, stopping at all the important towns
along the line, until he found Mr. W. at the Rathbun House.
He was courteous in the performance of his duty. e had
been in the “Old Army’ twenty years, and had been pro-
moted from the ranks as a guerdon of merit. On making
the arrest, he stated his business to Mr. Wright in a few
words, and handed him the order for his arrest, remarking,
“I am charged especially to treat you as a gentleman, and
was assured that I would have no occasion to do otherwise.”
Mr. Wright replied, “I shall give you no trouble, sir.” The
Captain then said, “I shall take an apartment in the sleeping
car to Detroit, to-night, and no one shall know of your arrest
from my words or actions.” Then stepping to the door,
Captain Wilson called in a man whom he introduced to Mr.
Wright as “ Mr. Cutcher, a detective.” The party then pro-
ceeded to the prisoner’s room, to ¢ secure any papers he had
with him.” This being done, Captain Wilson left the pris-
oner in charge of Detective Cutcher, and did not again appear
until 4 o’clock p.M., when he met them at the depot, and all
took seats in the cars.

They arrived in Detroit at 7 o’clock the following morning.
As they were emerging from the cars the Captain perceived
the provost guard drawn up in line in the depot. He became
much excited, and requesting Mr. W. to take his seat, he
stepped up to the guard and ordered them to their quarters.
He then came back to the cars, and, accompanied by Mr.
Wright and the detective, walked to the ** Biddle House,”
near by, for brealkfast.

Arriving there, the Captain stepped to the office, and ad-
dressing the clerk, said: “I want a private room with a fire,
and breakfast for three. I have a prisoner of state, and I
don’t want to expose him to unpleasant curiosity.” This
was said in an undertone, and was plainly not intended for
the ear of Mr. Wright. But having heard it, he protested
against the “private room.” The large dining-room, being
open, looked warm and cheerful in that frosty morning, and
no guests being astir at that early hour, he induced Captain
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Wilson to take breakfast in the dining-room; after which,
lighting their cigars, they took seats in a close carriage, and
were driven toward Fort Wayne, three miles distant.

The party had proceeded about three squares when the
carriage was stopped, and a long, lean, lathy, and cadaverous
individual thrust his countenance into the open door of the car-
riage, and squeaked forth in a cracked voice, “ Giood morning,
Capt’'n! We made a big arrest yesterday; we got a great
lecturer —”’  The fellow did not finish what he had evidently
intended to say, for Captain Wilson, flushed with anger,
cried out sternly, “ Drive on,and don’t stop,again until I tell
you.” He proved to be, as Mr. W. afterward learned, an
itinerant preacher, then a chaplain with some volunteers,and
had been subsequently promoted to a post on the provost
guard. The prisoner felt thankful to the fellow, for he had
unwittingly given him the only clue to the cause of his arrest
he ever received. About two weeks previously he had read
a lecture to a large and interested audience of citizens, of
every shade of political sentiment and opinion, at the beauti-
ful town of St. Clair, near Detroit.

Arriving at Fort Wayne, Mr. Wright was passed througk
the office and its routine, and conducted to a small but cheer-
ful room in the third story of the long line of Dbarracks,
which were used as the officers’ quarters. A small boy
brought an armful of wood and kindled a cheerful fire. A
sentry was placed on the landing at the foot of the half
flight of iron stairs which led to the door of his room. Mr.
Wright was instructed to call him by a rap on the inside of
the door, if he wanted anything.

Presently, Captain Wilson made his appearance, accom-
panied by Lieutenant Jones, a polite, cultivated young gen-
tleman, in whose charge he left his prisoner for the day,
as he himself was going to the city to report to Colonel
Smith. Mr. Wright immediately asked for books and writ-
ing materials. Lieutenant Jones presently brought him both.
of books an armful, and from them the prisoner was assured,
that he was a gentleman of fine taste and culture. Availing
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himself of the kindness of Captain Wilson, Mr. Wright ad-
dressed the following letter to “Colonel J. Randolph Smith
commanding Departnent of Michigan:”

¥

“Srs Lam your prisoner. May I be permitted to know why
I am here, and what are the speciic charges against me?”

Mr. Wright says: «1 then gave myself to musing apon
the scene from my window, which, in the glorious sunlight
ot that lovely spring mo uing, was beautitul Leyond descrip-
tion.  The view embraced the entire city of Detroit, with a
Large seetion of the surrounding plain dotted with neat sub-
urban cottages and a few beautiful wansious, with finely im-
proved grounds s and on the opposite side of the river, a large
portion of Windsor, the neat, pretty hamlet of Sandwich,
with a long streteh of beantiful shiore and a wide expanse of
back conntry, all glorions in the freshness of voung verdure.
Further npward, ¢ Belle Tele” scemed to float like a beautiful
cmerald on the silvery Loson of the waters ; and still heyond,
the cye conld take in the vast marshes known as the * St. Clair
Flats” Tle broad, green river was literally covered with
vessels, sailing and in tow, that seemed rushing in flocks like
migratory fowls to the ‘Upper Lakes.” Indeed, a more en-
trancing scene than that which greeted my first gaze from a
Prison-room is rarely enjoyed by mortals, even in frecdon. T
was in a spell, real, palpable. I mused of liberty, and tor
the first tine began to estimate and appreciate its priceless
worth.  Then my gaze would linger and fix itselt upon the
Canada shore. There nature seemed to glow aud bloomn in
quiet loveliness, as if conscious of the genial sway of peace.
There tlie genius of liberty seemed to have found suve retuge
from the mudness which had rudely driven and scourged her
from the land where our sires erst enshrined ler; and I
thought she scemed weeping in sorrow for the shametul
degradation of their sons!

“I turned to look upou the noble city, when my eyes
mstinetively seemed to fall upon the dome of the ¢ City Iall,
which, as it glistened with the silver light, seened in playful
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wantonness to throw back the warm kisses of the ardent
sunbeam —ay ! upon that lofty roof hard by — for beneath is
one who knows not yet my present sorrows, who, through
sunny years has nestled in my heart of hearts! Thou
art still unconscious of my fate! Thensleepon! O Memory,
how faithful is thy record to my first hours in my cell ?”

Alout four o’clock, Captain Wilson returned and presented
Mr. Wright with the following answer from Colonel Smith:

«S1r: I am in possession of your letter, and will state that 1
was ordered to arrest you, by telegraph from General Heintzel-
man, on last Saturday p.M.

“T am, sir, very respectfully,

Your obedient servant,
(Signed) J. R. SmitH, Col. U. 8. A,
Commanding, etc.
« Detroit, April 28, 1865.”

About 5 o’clock p.m., Captain Wilson again visited him,
saying: “I must part with you. I am ordered to deliver
you to Captain Tyler, of Colonel Smith’s stafl, who 1s wait-
ing below. I am sorry to part with you; but I hope it is for
the best. I had promised myself a pleasant time with you.”
After descending to the office, the prisoner was presented to
Captain Tyler, who, after receiving him politely, remarked :
«T am ordered to deliver you to Colonel De Radowitz, of
General Heintzelman’s staft, at the Cleveland boat.”

After taking leave of Captain Wilson, Lieutenant Jones,
and other officers of the garrison, he was placed in a carriage,
and driven to the whart., Of the two above-named gentle-
men, Mr. Wright says: “If Captain Wilson or Lieutenant
Jones be living or dead, I know not; but I know that their
memory will live with me while my heart can recognize one
emotion of gratitude.” At the boat, they found Colonel De
Radowitz in waiting. e received them courteously, remark-
ing: “T have an unpleasant duty to perform, Mr. Wright;
I an ordered to conduct you to New York, and deliver you
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to General Dix, but I shall not make myself disagreeable to
you.” Mr. Wright thanked the Colonel, and informed him
that he need give himsclf no occasion for the least anxiety on
his account. From that moment, until he was delivered to
Colonel Burke, he was not subjected to the slightest con-
straint or the least surveillance by Colonel De R.,who treated
him, in every respect, as a travelling companion.

Mr. Wright remarks:

« We took leave of Captain Tyler, and went on hoard the
boat as_the sun was setting. ~We proceeded to an clegant
state-room, or two state-rooms connecting ; one of which
was mine, and the other was occupied by Colonel De R.;
and, leaving there our satchels and heavy overcoats, we took
ceats in the ladies’ cabin. Soon came in Cutcher, with six
soldiers, and stood before us. Colonel De R. immediately
arose, much excited, and sternly ordered Cutcher to go with
his wien at once to the forward part of the boat, and remain
there. Subsequently, all but two were sent back, and those
two accompanied us to New York; but I did not sce them
until we were crossing on the Jerzcy Ferry, when I heard
Colonel De R. order them to go to the Park Barracks, and
rewain there until further orders.

«T feel constrained to record here my impressions of Colo-
nel De Radowitz. 1Me was about twenty-four years of age,
was an officer in the army of the King of Prussia, and was
on ‘leave of absence’ for two years, that he might sce ser-
vice in America.’ Ile was first on the staft’ of General
McDowell, then of General McClellan, and last of General
Heintzelman, which station he then held as ¢ aide-de-camp.’
He was dressed in neat undress uniform, and wore a service-
sword, but no revolver, the inevitable and disgusting append-
age of our volunteers. Over all, he wore a light overcoat—
not uniform. He was tall, graceful, refined and polished n
manners, and withal a handsome man among a thousand.
A more perfect gentleman I have never met. He pronounced
the English language correctly, but with a slight foreigu
accent. During our whole progress to New York, he ¢ssayed
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to entertain me as if he would lighten my heavy load of sor-
row, which seemed almost insupportable. ‘

T contemplate the strange fact, unaccountable even now,
that from the first moment of my arrest, and during my
entire journey to New York, I never thought of Fort Lafay-
ette, and least of all things, the possibility that I was des-
tined for eleven months to its dismal, living death.”
~ About one o’clock on the 30th of April the party arrived

in New York city. On landing from the ferry-hoat the
prisoner was placed 1n a carriage, accompanied by Cutcher.
Colonel De Radowitz stepped aside as if seeking some one,
and was met by a young man who handed him a packet, in
a large Government envelope. Immediately on receiving the
packet and reading it, he stepped to the carriage and took a
seat beside the prisoner. Ile seemed much agitated, and the
carriage had proceeded some distance in the direction of the
Battery, when he broke the ominous silence with these words:
“I have bad news for you, Mr. Wright, very bad news!”
The prisoner inquired quickly —not suspecting its purport
— what the news waslike? “ I am ordered to carry you to
Fort Lafuyette,” replied Colonel De Radowitz with visible
emotion. They proceeded in silence. Arriving at Fort Ham-
ilton, they descended a flight of steps to the wherry, and
were conveyed across the channel to Fort Lafayette.

Ascending to the Adjutant’s office, Mr. Wright was form-
ally delivered to Colonel Martin Burke, a man apparently
seventy years of age, with features as hard as iron. His
face plainly spoke ¢ orders” in every feature and lineament.
Helooked as though he could stand by the rack, thumbscrew,
o1 gibbet unmoved by the agonies of his victim, if *“ ordered.”
He was the man for the Bastile.

After biddiny farewell to Colonel De Radowitz and Cut-
cher, the former of whom left him with cheering words, the
victim of despotisin was passed through the routine of office,
relieved of his valuables, and thence conducted to casemate
No. 3, scratched in the paint on the door-casing of which
were the words:

““Who enters here leaves hope behind.”
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We again quote from Mr. Wright :

“Ilere, during my ecleven months, there were never less
than cight, ard often thirteen men. We were locked up
after being counted at ‘retreat,” and released at Creveille)
but in the day we were permitted to walk on three sides of
the area along the borders of the parade grounds. We were
provided with iron Ledsteads, which folded against the walls
during the day and were let down at night, and with good
mattresses, pillows, sheets, and blankets in abundance ; but
these were not furnished by the Government, hut were the
gift of the ladies of Bualtimore to the members of the Legisla-
ture of Maryland, who were arrested by General McClellan,
and thirnst into Forts Latayette and Warren, some of whom
were detained thirteen mionths.  Government furnished no-
thing for the prisoners save very plain food, scantily dealt out
by o thieving comnissary, who was subsequently detected,
and fled frow the punislinent he so well deserved. T will
not write his name, lest T should lighten Ly a shade, in com-
purison, the character of the mean fellow who succeeded
Bine i suceessor was Licutenant , of the 17th In-
favtry, U. 30 AL e had been, in the beginning of the war,
@ member of the noted * Shriver Guard,” of \Vheeling, Va.,
but desertad his friends and the cause of his State for ¢loil’
service, whicls paid Letter.  Tle will know himself in this
brief sketcli, and will be long remenibered by many prisovers,

“ At the period of my arrival there were abont ninety
prisoners in the Fort, about sixty of whom were prisoners
of war. including blockade-runners, and citizens picked up in
varions localities to count for exchange.  Of these latter,
wone Lad heen in the service.  Most of them were 0o old
and iufirm for any service,

* Later canie Joseph IToward, Jr., of the Proclamation
notoriety, whom Colonel Burke would always call “Bogus”
Joe”  He was a man of good heart, sprightly intellect, and
fine culture, quick, lively sensibilities, and withal a most
genial gentleman and 4 good companion. I missed him

when he eft us,  With him came M. Mallizon, hig eoad.
15
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jutor, who was popular with all the prisoners through his
good-nature, genial mirthfulness, and lively wit, which seemed
ever gushing from an exhaustless fountain.

«The monotony in Lafayette was often broken by the
arrival of the small steamer ¢ Henry Burden,’” bringing fresh
prisoners, but more often visitors, and still oftener the ¢ Cora-
mission’ and Judge Advocate Bolles. There was not a pri-
soner in the Fort, except the accredited ¢ prisoners of war,
save myself, who had not been called up before that august
tribunal once, twice, or thrice. Every time the boat’s whis-
tle was heard, the boys would cry out, ¢Fresh fish,” meaning
new prisoners, or ‘ Commish,’ or ¢Bolles.” That cry always
raised my anxious expectation. I would faney my trial was
near, and I never doubted that my release would follow ; but
I learned that I was not answerable to that jurisdiction, but
that I was the ¢ President’s prisoner.’

«T must omit, for want of room, the parration of many
notable incidents in my experience of life in Lafayette. I
cannot do justice to my own feelings, nor to the memories
which I shall cherish through life, without mentioning the
kindness which I received from all the prisorers, without a
single exception, and also the uniform good feeling that pre-
vailed among them. There were many men of education
and fine culture. We were denied the advantage of religious
instruction from the outer world. No spiritual friend and
counsellor could come within those dark walls to say good
words to us. In our mess, and in other apartments were
several gentlemen who were members of the Episcopal
Church. A friend sent to me, by my own request, eighteen
prayer-books, and a book of church music. I read service
every Sunday morning at 11 o’clock, in the ¢ Battery,” which
would scarcely contain all the prisoners, and there were few
who did not attend regularly. We had several young men
who sang well. We had musical instruments—flutes and
violins — and our Sunday choir might have been welcomed
in any church in the city of New York, or elsewhere.”
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On tlie 30th of August, 1864, Mr. Wright sent the follow-
g letter to Mr. Lincoln, which was never answered. Other
similar letters were addvessed to the President by the pris-
ouer and his friends, asking for a trial or release; but they
availed nothiug, although Mr. Lincoln several times promise:
to grant one or the other. Similar applications were like-
wise made to Mr. Dana, and, after his succession, to President

Johnson —but all to no purpose, as far as known, The letter
reads as follows:

“Fort LAFAYETTE, August 30. 1864,
“To Ilon. ARRAHAM Lincory, President of the United States :

“Sir: I have been a prisoner in this fortress four months this
day. 1 was arrested at Grand Rapids, Michigan, on the 27th day
of April last, ‘by order of the President, through General 1eint-
zelman,” and by Colounel J. R. Smith, commanding Department
ot Michigan. Until this hour I am unadvised of any charge or
charges aguinst me, or of any special cause why I was arvested.
My position is most painful and mortifying. In regard to my
political sentiments generally, or my opinions touching the mo-
mentous questions of the day, I am prepared, as I ever have becn.
to make a frank avowal of them. In regard to my actions
touching the questions at issue, or the parties to that issue, since
the commencement of the war, I have nothing which I desire to
conceal. T am a citizen of the State of Missouri, resident in the
city of St. Louis, hy profossion a lawyer. The story of my
private life, or of my relations, of blood, or social, cannot interest
You just now,

“From you, as Chief Magistrate and Executive of my Govern-
ment, I have the right, respectfully, to demand justice. As a
citizen, 1 would fain appeal to your humane and Christian sym-
pathies. I am incapable of crime, or of premeditated wrong,
T dislike notoriety of any kind, and now respectfully request
that T may be permitted to communicate personally with some
one in whom you may confide, who shall be empowered to set
Mme at liberty, in the event that he shall be satisfied that there is
10 just cause for my further detention. I trust that my motives
in this communication will not be misapprehended.
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«The welfare of my country, and her restoration to unity, peace,
and prosperity, have been the burden of my highest aspira.
tions. - am not a criminal, begging for mercy, but a free citizen
demanding justice, to know whereof I am accused, and who is my
aceuser, to be confronted with the witnesses against me, tried by
the law, and by it be convicted or acquitted.

« General Dix, as my counsel advises me, and Colonel Burke,
bave both promised that any communication which I might de-
sire to send to you shall be promptly forwarded to you, if
proper.

«T have the honor to subscribe myself with due respect,

P. C. WrigHT.”

On the 13th of March, 1865, Mr. Wright was, together
with seven other political prisoners, transferred to Fort
Warren, while the prisoners of war were sent to Fort Dela-
ware. e arrived at the Fort the following day, (March
14,) and was informed, had he arrived the day previously,
he would have been discharged, with some forty others, of the
same class who had been released that day. The Fort was
commanded by Major Allen, U. 8. A., and was garrisoned
by a detachment of the 4th Massachusetts Heavy Artillery,
Governor Andrews’s pet corps, under the command of Major
Appleton, in all about four hundred men. They were a fine
body of men, and were uniformly kind and just toward all
the prisoners. Among the notable prisoners there, were
Commodore Tucker, of the Confederate Navy, Generals Ed-
ward Johnson, Ewell, Jackson, Marmaduke, Barton, and
many others of General Lee’s army. These general officers
were separated from the other prisoners, and were assigned
very comfortable quarters on the officers’ side of the Fort.
They were allowed all reasonable privileges, but were not
permitted to speak to the other prisoners. Mr. Wright was
assigned casemate No. 6, in which were about twenty-tive
prisoners. There were seven of these rooms appropriated to
the prisoners, but two, Nos. 6 and 7, were never locked at
night, as were the other five, as the inmates of the former
were under parole.
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The prisoners were privileged to walk on the ramparts
each day as long as they chose; but having been conducted
thither by a corporal in the morning, they were compelled to
remain out, or if returned to their rooms, they could not go
out again that day. The two rooms 6 and T were not
so crowded as the rest, which contained fifty, and two of
them between sixty and seventy persons. It is surprising
that there was so little sickness among the prisoners; but the
rost of them were young men who had been well nurtured,
and were cleanly in their habits. FEarly in April he was re-
moved from No. 6 to a very pleasant room under the officers’
quarters, and for eight weeks was permitted to remain there,
the last four of which he was alone.

About the last of April, Mr. Wright was informed by
Licutenant Woodman, commissary of the prisoners, that
Major Bolles, Judge advocate on General Dix’s Commission,
was at the Fort, ana had come to see himn. The Licutenant
then called a corporal and directed him to escort Mr. Wright
to the angust presence of the Major, who occupied the room
of an officer in a distant part of the Fort. The Major re-
ceived him graciously and bade him be seated. After ex-
changing a few commonplace remarks about the weather,
the prisoner’s health, and the manner in which he had en-
dured his incarceration, and boasting of sonie of the exploits
while in the performance of his official duties as Judge Ad-
vocate in West Virginia and elsewhere, he said: “I lave
ealled to see you, Mr. Wright, upon very important business,
and I am authorized to propound to you certain questions,
and to assure you that upon your answer to those questions
will depend your immediate release, or your further deten-
tion.” Mr. Wright became very angry and much excited
at the insolent tone in which he had been addressed, hut
calming himself, he said, “ You do not know me, sir, or you
would not thus insult me. I will hear your questions, and
will answer them traly if T can, or if I shall deem it proper
to answer them, whether I shall be released now, or remain
here to the end of my natural life. What I shall say will le
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the truth, whether it should suit your purpose or not.” After
profuse apologies, he said: “I am Judge Advocate on the
staff of General Dix, and am here in my official capacity. 1
have bad much experience of late as a Judge; I am pushing
inquiries relative to that dreadful affair of Good Friday last,”
pulling some papers from a large envelope; “I refer to the
assassination of President Lincoln.” Springing to bis feet,
Mr. Wright exclaimed, ¢ What do you mean, sir?”’ The
Judge Advocate bade Mr. W. to be calm, and cast his eye
toward the stalking sentry at the door, with an ominous
glance toward the prisoner, which bespoke power. Then
opening a paper, he read its contents, commenting on the sen-
tences as he read them. He argued that the prisoner must
unquestionably be a party to a conspiracy long since organ-
1zed to assassinate President Lincoln, remarking that the
“argument was well drawn, and the conclusion inevitable.”

When the reading of the papers was over, and the infer-
ences discussed, as far as force of patience on the part of the
prisoner would allow, the Judge Advocate asked for a state-
ment of his case, which Mr. Wright freely gave him. Bolles
listened attentively, and noted accurately his words:

“T stated that I came from New Orleans to the West in
the spring of 1857, and in the spring of 1859 I brought my
family, with our servants, to St. Louis, and settled myself
there for life, and engaged in the practice of my profession.
It seemed to me needful to state that, during the latter part
of 1857, and all of 1858, I had been in Iowa and Illinois,
until I went to St. Louis, in the spring of 1859, He took
down this statement, but used the word *citizen,” making me
to say that I was a citizen of Iowa and Illinois prior to my
removing to St. Louis. I objected, saying, ‘I was never a
citizen of those States, but was merely a sgjourner or denizen.’
He made the correction I desired, anl then added, ¢ You are
now a citizen of Massachusetts, and are likely to remain so
for some time to come.”” Thus another political farce ended,
and with it died the prisouer’s new-born hope of release.

Mr. Wright remained a prisoner in Fort Warren about
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four months, and was released from his long and unjust con-
finement of fiftecn nonths, about the first of August, 1863.
No specitic charges were ever made against him, nor any trial
accorded him, unless a just public can pronounce the above
examiunation, by Judge Advocate Bolles, a trial.

In conclusion, Mr. Wright says:

“I would not cherish a spirit of hatred nor revenge
toward any man, not even toward one of those who perse-
cuted e o niercilessly. T would fain believe that they were
even conscientions in regard to their treatment of mie, and
that they thought themselves to be doing the behests of jus-
tice in view of a supreme necessity, whiel, if it had existed,
would not have justificd sucli ontrage upon my rights to
liberty wud the pursuit of happiness. While I will frcely
ascribe to them proper motives and just considervations, I
shall demanud of them a due respect for my own mnotives, and
a just conzideration of all my actions touching affuirs of
great public Interest and concern.

“Taver, that from the first Lour of the signal epoch which
tas made up its scroll for the recording angel, I have never
known It one sentiment in regard to my country, my whole
country; and that had for its burden her past and future
renown, through the exaltation of splendid States, cach free
and independent, the grand creation of her sovereign people.
It is, it wos, my simple right, nay more, my highest duty, as
a free clitizen, to scrutinize the conduct of men who had bLeen
raised to the places of power as servants of the people, and
t0 judge their policy in regard to affairs committed to them,
equally in a scason of public emergency which threatened
the destruction of all that we hold sacred, and even the
entire social order, as in time of peace and tranquillity. I
availed myself of that sacred right, and that was the sum of
my offending. I shall again and always use that right,
though the gates of the Bastile should again close behind me,
and the leaden-winged months once more inscribe afresh the
horrors whick time cannot ettace from my memory.

“ While iy soul would fain exaltitself in praise to Almighty
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God for his dispeusations, whether terrible or joyfui, I would
bless anew the tyrant, my oppressor, and all his myrmidons,
in that they were, unwittingly, however, His appointed
agencies for my instruction and exaltation. I have learned
‘how sweet are the uses of adversity ’— how far more pre-
cious than gold are the lessons which persecution may impart
to him who will admit into his soul the cheering light of
sublime faith— how sweetly wisdom comes with her gentle
insinuations in the darkest hour of trial, though in_the sun-
shine of prosperity and success she had knocked at the door
only to be scorned and denied admittance! Iow sweetly
the grateful memories come, troop on troop, to the prisoner
in his cell — come on the moonbeams, on the wings of
zephyr, and even upon the harsh breath of the storm as it
makes the voices of midnight revelry around battlement and
tower. Ay! some holy recollections are mine! ye tyrants,
usurpers, myrmidons of power ! But they can never be yours!
never! Ye have gathered spoils, of war and of fraud — the
price of blood and the purchase of the soul’s_virtue! Ye
flaunt the gems which meanest power has filched from
weakness and innocence, until the sunlight blushes red in
their flashing brilliancy! Ye may gather to these all that
Golconda, Peru, and the unravished bed of the ocean may
yield, and yet, with their sum twice told, ye may not pur-
chase the immortal gems and pearls I gathered in your grim
. «Bastite Y TEE.SEA !’ Your day has come, but its fading
. light proclaims the fearful night ye contemplate with fear
and trembling, like cowards that await an avenging jus
tice without hope; while your victims wait their morning,
whose dawning light even now climbs up the heavens t)

( their view.”
|
|

; The following beautiful poem was composed by Mr. Wright
while a prisoner in Fort Warren:
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MY BASTILE YEAR.

Uh! heavy, sad, and gloomy year.
As now thy retrospect I scan,
Memory waits to drop oue tear
For th’ inhumanity of man :
Thy record, traced upon my soul,
Each burning line instinct with life,
As though some fiend had marred the seroll,
Is stained with Late and fear and strife.

There lingers yet an angry cloud

Whick shuts ont every cheering ray;
Ilist the thunder, deep and loud,

And watel the vivid lightnings, play;
Anon, that clowd by thunder riven

Aud seattered in the lichtning’s gleam,
Isee beyond a silvery heaven

Where blessed rays of promise beam.

I'note some weird pictures there,

And seem to hear th’ envaptured straine
Of wildering accents on the air

Which zephyr wakes along the plains.

There Love’s enchantments lingering glow
As now she weaves her magic spell ;
I list her voice in numbers flow

Like echoes of a fairy bell.

Dear Friendship, too, handmaid of love,
Hath left the impress of her band,
As to my questioning heart she 'd prove
Her kindred with the angel band.

Now MHope essays her magic powers
To lend her radiance to the scene,
Still strives to cheer my weary hours,
Yet with illusions sweet, I ween ;
She nestles under fancy’s wings,

And glistens in the beams of noon,
Now her entrancing carol sings

And flies me with the waning moon.

Oft she has sought my casemate cell

To lure me with a cheering beam,

;——;
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But when the stalking sentries yell
She flees like phantom of a dream;

But still she points me to the skies,
And leads her sister, Faith, to me,

That from despair my soul may rise.
And bright, celestial joys may see.

Faith, sweet messenger of Heaven
To every wretched child of earth,

Now whispers me her mission given
To tell my soul its heavenly birth;

She blends her light with Hope and Love,
And sheds her pure, transcendent rays

T jllume the path to realms above,
Where pleasures dwell through endlesa days

And Faith brings Patience in her train,
The virtue gentle, meek, and fair;

She constant sings her dulcet strains -
With chorus spirits of the air.

Be still, sad heart! thy murmuring ccass,
And heed the message from above!

There’s nought of earth thy pain can ease,
Make room for Patience, Faith, and Love

Now, Memory ! the scroll is thine,
Essay thereon thy weird skill,
Bid bate to mar no single line
By faintest trace of suffered ill.

Let envy’s dull envenomed trace,

As serpent slimes the fairest flowers,
Thy precious tablets ne’er deface,

Nor soil the wings of golden hours.

Dispel the dark'ning shades of fear
That come like shadows of the nighe,
Tell my sad heart that God is near,
He ever will defend the right.

Let malice ne’er the cup infuse,
Which angels proffer to my lips,

Brimful with nectar, pure’as dews
The bee from th’ opening rosebud sips

Should she, perchance, prevail to blot
Thy record of my Bastile year,

Bid Charity conceal the spot,

Or cleanse it with a shining tear.
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Oh'! let oblivion's darkest wave
Rull o'er thy gathered horrors now,
Or hide them in that welcome grave,
O’er which eternal waters flow.

Thy task is done; bind up the scroll;
Bear it in triumph to thy shrine,
And thither lead my willing soul,
To dream in pleasures only thine.




COLONEL SAMUEL NORTH, MAJOR LEVI COHN,
axp LIEUTENANT MORVEN M. JONES.

HE trial of Samuel North, Levi Cohn, and Morven M.

Jones, before an United States Military Comumission,
commenced at Washington, D. C., November 3, 1864, and
ending January 7, 1865, was one of the most interesting and
important ever held in the United States, involving numerous
and highly important legal and constitutional gquestions, in-
cluding those affecting the powers of the Government and
the rights and privileges of American citizens.

The commission was instituted on the 27th of January,
1%64, more than nine months before the accused were arrested,
to try whoever might be brought before it. General Abner
Doubleday was President. The trial did not end until the
7gh of Junuary, 1865. North was retained in prison nine-
teen, and Jones and Cohn thirty-two days, after the trial
closed.

New York had promptly responded to the President’s first
call for 75,000 men, and cheerfully met those which followed.
The inexperience of the officers was felt in the care and
manpagement of the sick and wounded. With the hearty
approval of Governor Seymour, the Legislature of New York
passed a bill on the 24th of April, 1863, authorizing the
Governor to appoint suitable agents to provide additional
reliet’ for the sick, wounded, furloughed, and discharged
goldiers, and to facilitate the removal of the bodics of de-
ceased soldiers,and to perform such other duties as he might
direct. Ile was also authorized to employ surgeons and other
agents to look after the sick and wounded. To rueet these
expenses, $200,000 were appropriated.

The Governor appointed Colon*l Samuel North, a distin-
559
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guished citizen of Otsego County‘, who had been a magistrate
of his town, clerk of his county, and for seven years an
agent of the I’ost-office Department, and then a merchant,
agent for the State at the City of Washington. The manner
in which he discharged his duties was satisfactory to all who
did business with him. »

At his request, the Governor determined to send a State
paymaster to pay all back bounties, and whatever might be
due to soldiers from the State. The Paymaster General of
the State recommended Major Levi Cohn, then in his own
office, for this employment, and he was selected by the Gov-
ernor, and repaired to Washington to perform his duties.
He stood high in Albany as a book-keeper and merchant’s
cashier, and an accurate and trusted business-man.

Nurses were needed at the hospitals. Morven M. Jones
had assisted in raising a company of volunteers at Utica,
and was commissioned a Lieutenant and entered the Army
of the Potomac. He was in the second battle of Bull Run,
and was taken prisoner. He was compelled to march four
days without food, and was subsequently thrown into Libby
Prison, where he remained until paroled. Ie was subse-
quently exchanged. Being advanced in years, his health
became too much impaired to permit him to continue in the
service, and he resigned. The General State Agent, knowing
him and his wife personally, requested them by telegraph to
proceed to Washington to engage in hospital duties. On the
second day after its receipt, their house was closed, and they
on their way to duty. They, like Major Cohn, reported to
Jolonel North, and then entered upon their arduous duties.
The manner in which Governor Seymour executed this law
lias never heen the subject of complaint by any one.

Oun the 21st of April, 1864, the Legislature passed another
law, authorizing volunteer soldiers in the national service to
vote, and prescribing the mode of doing so. This law was
so framed that, if not executed in an open and public mau-
ner, innumerable frauds might be committed under it. Gov-
ernor Seymour proposed to the leading officials of the Repub-
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lican party, so to arrange as to have all the voting in an
open and public manner, under the superintendence of a re-
presentative of each political party, This reasonable propo-
sition was neither accepted, nor even answered.

The law required the votes to be authenticated by a New
York commissioned officer. These being mostly Republicans,
exercised a coutrolling influence over the soldiers, and espe
cially so when they were taken in secret.

Neither Colonel North, Major Cohn, nor Lieutenant Jomnes
was charged by Governor Seymour with any duties under
this act. If soldiers called, wishing to vote, they were
aided by some one person present, but never by Colonel
North or Major Cohn, and only on one or two occasions by
Licutenant Jones. DBut it was assumed by Republicaus,
Colonel North’s office was the headquarters of Democratic
voting, and that great frauds and numerous forgeries were
committed there. It was thought that the arrest and con-
viction of Governor Reymour’s agent before election, on
charges of fraud and forgery, would secure the success of
the Republican ticket.

Without an affidavit, or any evidence that a crime had
been committed, Mr. Dana, Assistant Secretary of War, js-
sued an order for the arrest of ‘“Colonel North, James M.
Murply, Cohn, and Jones,” and he directed the scizure of
all the papers of the agency, and all their private papers at
their lodgings. To screen himself from personal responsibility,
he stated in it, that it was issued by order of the President.
Under it, Colonel North, Major Cohn, and Lieutenant Jones
were arrested on the 27th of October, 1864, and thrown into
the Old Capitol Prison, without being informed of the accu-
sations made against them. When Governor Seymour re-
ceved information of this outrage upon citizens of New
York, employed by him and acting for the State, he appointed
Amasa J. Parker, William F. Allen, and William XKelly,
three distinguished and well-known citizens, to proceed to
Washington and investigate the matter, and employ, in be-

half of the State, counsel to defend the accused. They
36
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faithfully performed these duties and reported to the Gov-
ernor.

The following is an extract from the report cf these com-
missioners:

«They found them in the ¢Carrol Prison’ (a part of the
0ld Capitol Prison)in close confinement. They learned that
Messrs. North and Cohn had been confined together in one
room, and had not been permitted to leave it for the four
days they had been prisoners for the purpose of answering
the calls of nature. They had been supplied with meagre
and coarse prison rations, to be eaten in their room, where
they constautly breathed the foul atmosphere arising from
the standing odor.  They had no vessel out of which to drink
water, except the one furnished them for the purpose of uri-
nation. They had but one chair, and had to sleep three of ¢
the nights of their confinement on a sack of straw upon the
fioor. They had not been permitted to see a newspaper, and
were ignorant of the cause of their arrest. All communica-
tions between them and the outer world had been denied
them.” .

The visit of these commissioners improved their condition
for a time, and they were permitted to purchase better fare,
and were placed in a room with a dozen other persons. But
they were subsequently separated, kept in solitude, and re-
duced to the hardest of prison fare, compelling them to sub-
sist upon “hardtack,” which they could not eat; sometimes,
only three crackers a day for each, with sour apple-sauce and
black coftee.

They were required to obey prison rules which were not
posted up, or otherwise accessible. They offered the Super-
intendent five dollars for a copy, which he refused. They
were required to obey laws of which they had no kuowledge.

The object of this severe and brutal treatment was to break
down the independence of the accused, and induce them te
becone informers upon one another, and upon Governor Sey-
monr and others in New York, in order to secure themselves
a release, or, at least, better treatment. After trying it a
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second time, the effort to accomplish the object in this man-
ner was abandoned, and they were allowed to supply them-
selves with better food and some needtul conveniences. But
they were never permitted to see any person, except in the
presence of some official of the prison. In a written com-
munication from the War Department, Mrs. Jones was ex-
pressly refused permission to see her husband, and the Judge
Advocate roughly told her she had better go home, as her
husband would be convicted and sent to the State Prison, if
not sentenced to anything worse.  All correspondence, except
thirough the prison officials, was forbidden, and for a long time
they were not permitted to read newspapers. At one period,
after the trial began, Cohn was not permitted, for a whole
weelk, to see his counsel, although it was important that they
ghiould consult together.

The accused were arraigned and charged “with conduct
prejudicial to the military service of the United States, and
in fraud of the election rights and duties of the soldiers and
officers of sald service.”

The specification set up that they were the ostensible
agents of the State of New York, to aid in the execution of
the law anthorizing soldiers to vote, and had fraudulently
gigned, or caused to be signed, blanks under said law pur-
porting to have been signed by soldiers, and witnessed and
sworn to in the presence of, and by an officer, and intended
to be used at the election in fraud of the soldiers’ rights.

The counsel for the accused pleaded to the jurisdiction of
the commission:

1st. The commission had no jurisdiction over the parties.

24. Not over the suhject-matter.

3d. The subject 1s not within the powers of the National
Government.

4th. The National Government has never legislated on the
subject.

5th. There is no law of the National Government authoriz.
ing the institution of a military tribunal to try a person, not
in the military service, for any offence, he not being a spy.
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In support of this plea, the counsel cited numerous autnor-
ities, including the Constitution of the United States, defin-
ing the powers of the Judiciary,and prohibiting the exercise
of criminal power, except through presentments by grand
jurors, and limiting military powers to persons in the mili-
tary service,

It was contended that the acts charged were not declared,
by any law, to be an offence, and Congress had not attempted
to confer jurisdiction. No national tribunal could enforce
the penal laws of a State. It had been settled by the Supreme
Court that no common-law offences existed under the Federal
Government. The Courts of the district were open. The
laws had not been suspended, nor martial law been declared.
If the laws of New York had heen violated, that State had the
will and capacity to assert her dignity and defend ler sove-
reignty. A conviction by the commission could not be plead-
ed in bar, if the accused should be prosecuted in her courts.
This tribunal could not deprive her of her rights to vindicate
her dignity and execute her laws. If the commission has not
inrisdiction, its members will be personally answerable for
their acts. An English soldier had once been proceeded
against and sentenced to he punished by an unauthorized
commission like this. He died while undergoing the punish-
ment it had ordered. Years afterward the officer ordering
it was indicted for murder, convicted, and actual.y hung.

Shall we be less firm in defence of the rights and lives of our
citizens than mother England

g
things, “In time of war, a great many provisions of the
Constitution, which were intended for time of peace, are, pro
tunto, suspended. The Constitution, or rather the mass
of its details, is intended for time of peace; but, in time of
wur, the general war powers therein delegated to Congress
and to the President, take the place of the general provisions
in time of peace.”

Ile did not inform the ( omamission who had the power to
snspend these provisions, or how the people were to learn

.The Judge Advocate answered by saying among other
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which were suspended, and when that oceurred, nor how they
were to know when they were restored. The fallacy and ab-
surdity of this argument were most fully exposed. But the
commission concurred in these monstious doctrines, and over-
suled the plea to their jurisdiction. The Supreme Court of
¢he United States has since decided that they had no juris-
diction.

When the decision overruling the plea was announced, the
Judee Advocate demanded final judgment against the accused
apon the absurd ground that the plea to the jurisdiction
adwits the truth of the charge and specifications.  Upon
tlis motion, a long argument ensued. The proposition was
g0 monstrous, and the reasoning against it too strong to be
overcome by the sophistry of the prosecutor, the motion
was overruled, and thie accused permitted to plead, where-
upon they entered a plea of not guilty.

After issne joined, the accused demanded separate trials.
Thiz was resisted upon the ground that it would enable one
of them to testify in favor of the others, and thus avoid a
convietion. Although clearly entitled to the privilege of
sepurate trials, the commission refused to permit it.

The counsel for the accused then moved that the Judge
Advocate be required, before proceeding to trial, to elect
which he would try as principals, and which as accomplices,
both offences being averred in the specification, without any
meuns wherchy they conld determine for which offence they
were to Lo tried.  This motion was resisted on the ground
that, if he were now required to make election, it wonld
dimteish the ehances of conviction. The commission refused
thic rantion.

The counsel for the accused thereupon demanded process
to compel the attendance of witnesses in their behalf. This
brought on a long discussion.  The Judge Advocate resisted
their right to require the attendance of more than two wit-
hesses each to establish their good character. The aceused
demarded several. The commission, without assigning any

reasorn tborefor, determined to reserve its decision until a
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later period, and thereupon allowed the Judge Advocate to
call witnesses, and proceed with the trial.

Without deciding whether the accused should be allowed
process for any witnesses, the commission arbitrarily and
most wronginlly allowed the trial to commence and progress.
A greater outrage was never perpetrated by a tribunal claim-
ing to administer law and justice than the refusal of the
means to procure the attendance of the witnesses of the
accused, as provided in the Constitution, and, at the same
time, perwitting the prosecution to proceed in the trial.

Juines O. Clephane was then called as a witness by the
Judge Advoeate, and testified that he went some two days
before, with the Judge Advocate, who was dressed in citizen’s
clothes, to the Carrol Prison, and had Jones, one of the ac-
cused, brought before him-—that he made a confession, to
which he made oatl, heing the same published in the *“ Even-
ing Star” the day the trial commenced. This paper contained
statements which, it nnexplained, were injurious o Jones,
but on which no conviction could be sustained. On cross-
examination it appearved that Clephune went to the prison as
a stenographer and took notes—that Jones's attention was .
not called to this facet, nor was what he took down read over
or stated 1n substance to him.  Without attempting to make
a stateiuent, or to give a narrative of events, he had simply
answered the questions proposed to him by the Judge Ad-
vocate.  Ou being asked if he would be willing to swear to-
what he had stated, said be would. Clephane wrote out a
staternent, and headed it thus: “Morven Jones, being duly
sworn by John A, Foster, deposeth as follows.” This state-
ment was proved by Clephane to be fulse. The counsel tor
the aceused required him to produce his notes, and when he
did ¢o, and travslated them into Euglish, the concluding
words were:

(. ¢ Are you willing to be sworn to this statement?”

Ao Lam”

This proves that Jones did not in fact swear to the state-
ment, although willing to swear to what le did say. Cle.
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pbane and the Judge Advocate are respunsible for getting
up and publishing this fraudulent paper. On comparing this
pretended affidavit with Clephane’s notes, they were found
unlike in many essential particulars, and that Clephane had
Jeft out of the assumed confession what Jones had stated
favorable to the accused, and which proved beyond a doubt
tbat no crime had been committed, or intended. The fol-
lowing questions and answers he had omitted, but were found
in his original notes:

(. ¢ Do you know any case where names have been signed

without the parties being present?”

A. “No, sir.”

(. “ And never heard anybody say such a thing had hap-
pened at any time?”

A. “XNo, sir.”

This covered the whole case, and proved all innocent. But
the comwmission not only allowed this false affidavit to be re-
ceived against Jones, but against North and Cohn, and refused
to strile it out as evidence, when appealed to for the purpose.
Such a violation of the rules of evidence as to make a state-
wment of third persons evidence against those accused, except
where a conspiracy had been charged and proved, cannot be
found in the records of any trial in the civilized world, nor
defended where reason and justice are respected. ‘

Josiah Cleghorn was then called by the prosecution, and
testified that he was a Lieutenant in a negro regiment, and
resided in Erie County, New York, that he called at North’s
office on the 20th of October, 1864, and found him and Jones
there, and a man signing his name Murphy, who made out
voting papers for him, which he signed and took-away. He
was told where to go to swear to them. That he did not in
fact go and swear to them. That on the 25th or 26th of the
wonth, he again went to Colonel North’s office, when al
three of the accused were there. He informed the persons
present that his papers had been directed to the wrong post-
office, and that he desired new ones to be made out, which

Jones proceeded to do, e using blanks that had been pre-

[ 4
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viously signed by an officer. The old papers were twisted
up and thrown uunder the table, and new ones made out. which
Le signed and took away, the envelope containing a Demo-
cratic vote.  All was done as he wished, except he did not
like the Democratic vote.  On his cross-examination he swore
that Lie “surrendered” this package to Mr. Clareace Seward,
sou of the Secretary, and thut when he got the papers pre-
pared it was not his intention to send them away. From
Lis own statement it is interrible that he was twice sent to
Colonel Nortli's oflice to obtain something out of which an
accusation could be framed to cause arrests. Paliner, whose
suspicions had been awakened concerning the State Agency,
swore that early in October his suspicions had been aroused,
and he had communicated them to Assistant Secretary Sew-
ard, ut the Stute Department.  Ile and hLis brotker Clarence
doubtless were acting in concert, and prompted Dana to actiou.
According to Cleghorn's statement, Jones neither perpetrated
frand nor forgery, but served Lim at his request.  Cleghorn
was guilty ot hoth fraud and falsehood. Ile went to the
office with a lie in Lis mouth, and while there actually told
geveral.  On going a second time he did the same thing.
Jones obligingly served him without fee or reward. What
was prepared for him he did not intend to use, hut placed in
huands which caused the arrest of the accused. This whole
procecding was planned and executed by Government oflicials
cujoying the coutidence of the Administration. They at-
tempied to induce the comnnission of crime, that they might
cause wen to be punished.  In this they were criminal. But
they tuiled.  This pretended crime was no offence. It was
unmerited kindness bestowed upon a black-hearted conspira-
tor, who was willing (o ruiuv individuals for political effect.
The connsel for the aceused renewed his motion for process
to obtain thielr witnesses.  After sundry objections as to the
nuniher, the prosecution having so utterly failed in its proof,
the Judye Advocute consented, and the commission ordered
subpaias for such witnesses as were required. As the trial
could ot De completed before election, and there being no

5
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probability of any testimony damaging to the accused being
obtained, the prosecution consemizd to adjourn the furtler
Licaring of the case until the 14th of November.

Ou the reassembling of the commission, the Judge Advo-
cate introduced and swore one Craig, who testitied that
Colonel North, early in October, made out voting papers for
Linie, This was shown to Le utterly false, as the papers, when
prodnced, were conclusively proved not to bLe in his hand-
writing, bat in that of one Mott, who was not employed at
the New York State Agency.

One Iulwer also swore that Joues, in the presence of Colo-
nel Nortly, tried to induce him to sign a lot of blauks, which
Le refused, and of which Le gave immediate notice at the
State Department to Assistant Necretary Seward.  This story
wis Iprobable and undoubtedly false, as Colonel North Liad
beens for several days previously and subsequent to the time
Lie naoned, ubsent from Washington in the State of New
Yeork. wnd that no proceedings preparatory to voting at his
office took place until atter Liis return, and that then neither
of the aceusad heeame the actors. '

No other material evidence was offered hy the prosecution
concerr’y, the erimes charged upon the accused. DBut the
comis=ion indulged the Judge Advocate, contrary to all
just rules of law, inan endeavor to prove that =omebody
had connuitted some other crime, not charged in the specifi-
cationz. This scemed to be an effort to find evidence to excuse
the arrest, imprisonment, and trial. It was a failure. No
such crinie was proved, even if full credence hLad Leen given
to all the idle tales invented by witnesses to secure a trip to
Washington at the expense of the Government.

Various letters and papers found in the New York Agency,
not in the handwriting of either the accused, nor shown to
have Leen in their possession, were oftered in evidence. Their
introduction, without evidence connecting them with the ace
cused, was objected to. But the objection was overruled and
they were admitted in evidence, but proved nothing material.
Here the opening evidence for the prosecution was closed.
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The prosecution having rested their case, and there being
no evidence against Colonel North, nor pretence of any
against Major Cohn, a motion was made to discharge them.
This was resisted by the Judge Advocate on the ground, if
discharged, they might be called as witnesses for the defence,
and the conviction wholly defeated. This reasonable and
proper motion was overruled. '

The accused introduced a large number of witnesses to
prove their high character, and among them Judge Nelson,
of the United States Supreme Court, Governor Fenton, the
Republican member of Congress from Colonel North’s dis-
trict, Judge Garvin, of New York, and several distinguished
citizens of Albany, Utica,and Washington. They continued
this sort of evidence until the commission anncunced that
farther evidence on that point was unnecessary.

They then proved that the State Agency was a publie place,
where a Jarge number of persons were employed, and others
continually coming and going. That Colonel Bradley,North’s
predecessor and a Republican, occupied a place where he
could see and hear whatever occurred. The prosccution did
not call him. It was contended, under such civenmstances,
it was not probable that frauds and forgeries;ngl. ~r there
attempted. -

The accused offered as a witness, Charles M. Schotield.
The Judge Advocate objected to his being sworn, on the
ground thut he had inserted in the accusation the name of
« Schofield,” without any given name, or other description,
as a defendant.  He had been a daily attendant upon the
trial, and had not been arrested. He had been employed at
the Agency, and could testify to nearly everything that had

ocewrred there.  After full discussion, the commission decided
that no oue could be sworn whose family nawe had been
inserted in the accusation, whether arrested, or put upon trial
or not.  They thus, in legal effect, declared that the Judge
Advocate had the power to deprive the accused of all their
witnesses by inserting family names in the charges. Under
this decision, it is the Judge Advocate, and not the law, that
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deprives accused persons of evidence to defend themselves.
He may insert the name of every man whom he suspects of
knowing facts in favor of the accused, and thus prevent his
being sworn. This decision excluded another person who
had also been present and had seen and heard all that
occurred in Colonel North’s office.

After the trial had progressed several weeks, Major Cohn
wasseparated from his companions,and his counsel, Hon. R. H.
Gillet, refused permission to see him upon his general pass
A new and special one from the Judge Advocate, or Secretary
of War, was required. The former refused to give one, and
informed the counsel that Cobn had employed other counsel,
whose name he would not give, and did not wish to see him.
As he left the prison, Major Cohn beckoned to him from a
window to come up and see him. For a whole week the
counsel daily pressed the Judge Advocate to permit them to
sce Major Cohn and learn from him his wishes. DBut he

refused.  On one morning the counsel saw the Judge Advo-
categnd his stenographer going toward the President’s, and
renewed his application, but was abruptly refused. At that
very moment the Superintendent of the prison had Major
Cohn in a carriage, not over thirty feet distant, taking him
to the President’s, where the Judge Advocate and stenogra-
pher joined thern. Major Cohn had been coaxed and threat-
ened, and often told by prison officials while shut up alone,
that he could be set free by coming out with a full statement
of the whole matter. e consented to make such a state-
ment, but only to the President. ‘When the counsel saw the

Judge Advocate and stenographer, Major Cohn was on his

way to make the promised statement.

Before making it, he asked the President if he was to be
released on making it, and was assured by him that he should
be discharged and not tried. He thereupon made a full state-
ment of all he knew of the matter, and among other things
gtated that he had never committed forgery or fraud upon
any soldier. The J udge Advocate asked him numerous ques-
tions, and pressed him bard to admit that he had forged the
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name of one Smith, but not having done anything of the
kind, he refused to do so. He told the President that Colonel
North had not attended to the filling out of blanks, or voting
at all, and that he (Cohn) had never seen a vote taken where
the soldier did not sign the papers himself—that he saw
Colonel North, the evening before the arrest, burn the blanks
that Captain Otternott had signed to take and use at Camp
Distribution, and which he had left behind when he went, by
mistake. When Major Cohn was leaving the office, the Pres-
ident told him he would be discharged, and only be required
to remain on parole until after the trial. The President
remarked that he saw no criminality in anything stated by
Coln.

On going down stairs from the President’s office, the Judge
Advocate told Major Cohn, if he were discharged, he should
state that it was through the influence of his (the Judge Ad-
vocate’s) uncle, Henry Smith, a lawyer of Albany, who Lad
been permiitted to have free access to Major Cohn in prison, <
after he wns separated from his companions, while liis regu-
lar counsel had been excluded. Why Mr. Smith came from
Albany to Washington, and why he was allowed to see Major
Colin when he chose, to the exclusion of his own counsel, and
why Major Colin was separated from his companions, why
the counsel who had served him through the most important
portions of the trial was excluded, and why he was privately
taken to thic President’s office with the Judge Advocate and
a stenographer whose reputation had been so seriously dam-
aged by his own oath, to make a statement, and promised a
discharge from trial, can ounly be answered by drawing the
conclnsion which such facts naturally suggest. They fully
authorize the belief that Major Cohn was separated from his
comnpanions and denied the right to see his counsel to break
down hLis spirit—that Smith was introduced to advise and
persuade Lim to make such a statement as would canse his
discharge, and if’ obtained he would expect heavy compensa-
tion frour Major Colin’s rich relatives—that an accusatory
contession wonld save those engaged in the arrest and trial
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from the odium already arising from an unlawful arrest and
brutal imprisonment, and would let them down easy. In
their eyes, Major Cohn committed a new offence by not accus-
ing any one of crime. His integrity had resisted all the
temptations held out to him. By way of punishment, he was
remanded to prison, roughly treated, and tried. He was
acquitted without any of the agency of this Albany counsel,
who so mysteriously came into and went out of the case. In
this strange proceeding, neither the arrest, the crushing im-
prisonment, nor the trial found any justification. The for-
feiture of the President’s pledge covered him and those en
gaged in the matter with imperishable infamy.

At the next meeting of the commission, this pledge of the
President was formally brought before it by special plea,
accompanied with a demand, if its truth should be questioned,
of a subpeena requiring the attendance of the Iresident.
After argument, the commission announced, * The court de-
clines to entertain the plea, or application of the accused,
Levi Colin, unless there is a written order produced, ema-
nating from the President, or Secretary of War.” This deci-
sion was a self-stultifying one, furnishing conclusive evidence
that thie commission had no settled convictions of duty, and
dare not act upon a vitally important question without the
permission of those creating it, even if such question fur-
nished a controlling issue within their assumed jurisdiction,
involving the honor of the President and the character of the
country. The commission knew that the conditions of action
they imposed could not be complied with. It would have
been more manly to have overruled the plea and said nothing.

Soon after the commencement of the trial, which lasted
over two months, the Judge Advocate opened a place in the
city of New York, to which people from all parts of the
country were brought at the expense of the Government, by
subpena, and where they were privately examined, and their
statements taken down by a stenographer. If matter accu-
satory of the defendants was developed, the party was sub-
peenaed to attend the trial at Washington. This mode of
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fishing for evidence brought a vast number to the place of
iuquigition. Of all these, a few were brought before the com-
mission. Not one of those who came testified anything against
either of the accused, or attempted to disprove the good char-
acter imputed to them by their own witnesses. But the skill
of the Judge Advocate invented a new mode of attack, which
the conunission tolerated. He was allowed to attempt to
prove that, notwithstanding the high moral character proved
in Dhehalf of the accused, their character was questioned in
political matters, and that they would get political advan-
tages whenever they could. But this effort entirely failed,
except as to Colonel North,who, it wassaid, had been doubted
Ly one man. Daniel 8. Dickinson had declarel that he had
no confidence in him politically after having, at Baltimore,
refused to vote for his nomination for the Presidegcy. And
here this effort of drowning men to save themselves by catch-
ing at straws, ended.

The case was elaborately argued by W. A. Beach, of Troy,
N. Y., and R. 1. Gillet,of New Lebanon, for the defendants,
and hy John A. Foster, as Judge Advocate. Mr. Beach elo-
quently remarked:

“You see this case mingles with the great topics of gov-
ernmental power which have stirred the hearts of the world
since the endless struggle began between liberty and oppres-
sion. You cannot, if you would, belittle it. Tt is not alone
the fate of these defendants you are to decide. Strange as
it may secem, here —even here, before a military commission,
the legal representative of the Government of the United
States demands a judgment, affirming the suspension of the
Constitution. .

« TTe seeks the liberty, if not the lives, of these defendants,
over the shattered fragments of liberty and law. The issue
is sharply made between the Government and the citizen.
The learned Judge Advocate concedes, argumentatively, that
ne can reach the accused only through a broken Constitution.
Your Honors must approve his amazing doctrines, or you

must acquit.”
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In his concluding remarks, Mr. Gillet, in behalf of the
accused, said:

¢« North, Cohn, and Jones are innocent men. If you find
them guilty, you will never be satisfied with your decision,nor
feel proud of having sat in this case. If the law required
you, as in France, to write down in your finding the testimony
against each, whose evidence and what words would you
select to show them, or either of them, guilty? Can you
sclect and put on paper words that you will say prove crime?
‘W hen reflecting on your decision, try the experiment — read
what you collate, and reflect upon it, and consider whether all
you thus bring together is not consistent with their inno-
cence. Consider whether there is no solution but in erime.
You must be certain, beyond all reasonable doubt, of their
guilt, before you convict. If the proof is not clear and con-
clusive, an inward monitor will remind you, when you hear
this case mentioned, of your own doubts, and your dissatistac-
tion with the result. You will not feel at ease, nor will the
plaudits of a satisfied republic be yours.

«Tt cannot be denied that the present trial has grown out
of the recent party conflict. The eyes of Europe, as well as
all America, are upon the proceedings of this commission.
They will be read and scrutinized, and judgment rendered
upon them. All mankind will give a common decision. If
that decision sustains you, you will occupy an inviting page
in history. But if, on the contrary, it shall be that you acted
in violation of the Constitution and without jurisdiction or
authority, that there existed no law which had been vio-
lated, and that you condemned without clear and undoubted
evidence of guilt, then that page will be a blot —a record of
unparalleled wrong and injustice among tribunals claiming to
administer justice. You will make your own record, and
impress upon it the character your acts will bear. In the one
case mankind will admire, and in the other condemn. Your
decision will be impressed upon our country, and give it char-
acter for justice or injustice, both now and in all future time,
like the decisions of Hale or Jeffreys. The Administration
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which brought this tribunal into existence, sustains it in the
exercise of its functions, and which approves and executes
its decisions, will share in the common approval of mankind,
or will stagger under the weight which will rest upon and
finally crush it.  Both the honor of the Administration and
of the country are involved in the decision you shall make,
In my judgment, honor follows acquittal. I speak plainly,
because it is my duty frankly to express what I believe. The
case of my clients is now with you. I ask no sympathy, but
demand justice for them in the name of the Constitution and
laws of my country.”

The final argument before the commission was on the Tth
of Janunary, 1865, although the record, General Holt says,
shows no proceedings after the 4th. The finding of the
commission, as shown on the record as certified by Judge
Advocate General Holt, was in these words:

Fixar Dgecrsion.

“The commission was then cleared for deliberation, and,
after due consideration, do find the accused, Sarnuel North,
Levi Cohn, and Morven M. Jones, as follows:

“ As to the defendants Samuel North and Levi Cohn:

¢ As to the specification — not guilty.

“ As to the charge —not guilty.

“ As to the defendant Morven M. Jones:

“ As to the specification — guilty, except as to the words
¢ with the intent and for the purpose of having such blanks,
so signed, used as and for the deed of the soldier whose
name purported to besigned thereto, and in fraud of the true
electors.’

“ As to the charge — not guilty.

“ And do therefore acquit said Samuel North, Levi Cohn,
and Morven M. Jones.

“Signed — John A. Foster, Colonel and Judge Advocate.

“Rigned — Abner Doubleday, Major-General Volunteers,
President M. C.

“ Official — J. Holt, Judge Advocate General.”
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Greneral ITolt, in a letter to Hon. J. L. V. Pruyn, states that
these proceedings were not filed in his office until the 26th
ot January, 1865.

Where were they between the close of the argument and
making the decision, and their being filed in the Judge Ad-
vocate General’s office? This was a period of painful sus-
pense to the prisoners.  Public rumor said they were all con-
victed, then that North was pardoned. The “New York
Tribune,” of the 27th of January, contained the following
from its Washiington correspondent: “Colonel North has Leen
rcleased by the War Department. e was convicted by the
finding of the Court which tried him. Before his trial was
coucluded, it was felt Lere that North would escape all
punishment. The pressure to have Lis trial stopped was
immense. This was nearly done, but finally desisted from.
The pressure for his unconditional release has been irre
gistible.”

Why this reiteration of the falsehood that Colonel North
had heen convicted? The record had been withilield for
weeks, cither by the Judge Advocate, John A. Foster, or by
Edwin M. Stanton, Seeretary of War, as it did not reach the

sureau of Military Justice until the 26th of January, 1865,
to the great injury of the accused, who had been proved not
guilty. This neglect of a public duty donbtless led to the
rumors that North Lad been convicted, and, when released,
to the further falsehiood, that he had been pardoned — all with
the view of satisfying the public that there was good reason
for the arrest and trials. The delay in filing the record was
to allow the public mind to become occupied with some-
thing else, and to have these great wrongs forgotten. Colonel
North was discharged on the 26th of January, 1865, under
an order from the Assistant General’s office, stating his ac-
quittal, and directing his immediate release from confinement,
which was not then communicated to him. Ile was merciy
told hy the keeper “to pick up his traps and leave the prison
d--d quick—to go where he had a mind to.” It was not

until a subsequent time that he was furnished with evidence
as
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of his acquittal. It is probable that, but for deep censure
emanating from Congress and leading men in all parts of the
country, Colonel North would not have been released at the
time he left the prison. He was well known to a large por-
tion of the American people, who saw nothing in the pul-
lished evidence to warrant conviction or detention, and hence
their efforts to secure his restoration to liberty. This ac-
counts for the doors of his prison being thrown open. He
was too prominent a man to render it safe and prudent longer
to continue his illegal imprisonment—to deprive him of
liberty without an adequate cause. Fear, and not justice,
prompted this tardy action.

But why were Major Cohn and Lieutenant Jones detained

" two weeks after his release? Was it to avoid showing the
whole failure at once, or because they were much less known,
and deemed more friendless, and might more safely be kept
shut up? It is certain, that E. M. Stanton, Secretary of
War, and Joseph Holt, Judge Advocate General, told Mrs.
Jones and the Rev. Mr. Corey, that they had been convicted
and sentenced to the State prison for life. Mr. Stanton twice
told the Ion. John Ganson, M. C., from Buffalo, the same
thing, and did the same to others. Mrs. Jones returned home
to Utica believing that ber husband had been found guilty
and sentenced to the State prison for life. This belief became
general.  Major Cohn’s frieuds, supposing that the story was
true, went to Washington to ascertain what could be done to
secure his release.

What object had Stanton and Holt in telling and repeat-
ing these unmitigated falsehoods? Why strike an alinost
deadly blow at a poor woman wko had nursed our wounded
and dying soldiers? Why inflict pain and torture upon
Major Cohn and Lieutenant Jones, and compel them to re-
main in a loathsome prison, when they knew they had been
found not guilty, and were entitled to be discharged and to
enjoy freedom? Were these untruths for the supposed benefit

of their party or friends? Truth compels us to say, that it

is quite probable that a willingness to allow friends to levy
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Lawi madl bad had something to do with these false pre-
tences. At that time there were many men in Washington
who made very large professions concerning their power and
influence with the President and his Cabinet and their ability
to procure pardonms. Major Cohn’s father and uncle were
deemed rich merchants in Albany. The latter, when in
Albany, and often when in Washington, was approached in
mystic language in relation to the release of his nephew.
Except in the single instance of Governor Thomas Ford, of
Ohio, he turned a deaf ear to all such suggestions. Ford’s
promises proved fallacious. After being detained two weeks
after the release of Colonel North, on the 8th of February,
1865, the prison doors were thrown open, and they were
ordered to leave as quick as possible. They were unable,
until the 12th of February, 1867, to ascertain what was the
actual decision of the commission. Neither the Secretary
of War nor Judge Advocate General would give either the
wnformation desired. Whether this refusal was because they
disregarded their claims to the information, or for fear it
would conflict with their oral statements, we can only con-
jecture. It may be both.

We place this arrest, imprisonment, and trial on record,
thiat our countrymen and their descendants may learn the
appalling consequences that flow from disregarding the Con-
stitution and laws, and violating both, to secure and continue
the ascendency of a political party, who claim to act under a
law higher than the Constitution, and who ridicule that

sacred instrument, when its provisions are appealed to as the
fundamental law of the land.




IOBERT W. NEWMAN.

JROFESSOR ROBERT W. NEWMAN is descended from
one of the oldest families of Virginia. His grandfather,
Robert Newman, served with distinction in the army during
the Revolutionary War, and was honorably discharged. His
fgther, Catesby Newman, was a soldier in the American army
during the last war with Great Britain. Robert W. Newman,
the subject of this sketch, was born and educated in Virginia,
and, shortly after his graduation from college, was made As-
sociate P’rincipal of the Winchester High School, in that
State, which position he occupied for two years, and then
became proprietor and principal in the Winchester Female
Seminary, in September, 1855.

In April, 1858, he was elected Principal of the Harford
Academy, the State institution, located near Baltimore,
Maryland,which position he retained until July, 1864, when,
owing to the deplorable condition into which the society of
the Border States had been thrown, he yielded to the im-
portunities of his family, and removed to New York. Deem-
ing the unhappy state of affairs likely to last for yecars, he
established himself in Peekskill, in the State of New York,
in January, 1865, where he has since resided.

His arrest took place at Belair, near Baltimore, in the lat-
ter part of June, 1863, and was made by Lieutenant Offley,
at the head of a detachment of Delaware cavalry, stationed
in Baltimore, and commanded by the notorious Colonel Fish,
then acting as Provost Marshal of the city. The same indi-
vidual was afterward convicted of defrauding the Federal

jovernment in contracts for supplying horses, and sent to

the Albany State Penitentiary to expiate his crime. Prof.
Newman’s arrest was made by the Lieutenant, without a
611
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warrant or auny formula of law, other than such as le was
mvested with by the orders of Colonel Fish.

The prizoner was forced from his house before daylight,
taken to the County Jail, and there confined for several days,
without chair, table, or bed, the necessary conveniences that,
are furnished even to a culprit. He was treated as a con.
demmned felon, or even worse. After much pleading, his fam.
ily were permitted to fturnish him with a bed and provi.
sions, while confined in the jail. Thence he was taken, under
an escort of cavalrymen, to Havre de Grace, about twenty
miles distant, to which place he would have been compellad
to walk, but that the humane Offley, after much persuasion,
permitted him to obtain a conveyance, with the express stip-
ulation that he should pay for it himself.

arriving there, he was thrust into a guard-house, with
the most alject specimens of humaiity, and there compelled
to remain two days and nights, and partake of the miserable
rations furnished to them ; and worse than all, to sleep upon
a floor, the stench from which was scarcely enduralle.

From ITavre de Grace, he was taken by rail to Baltimore,
and placed in c¢lose confinement in the Gilmor House, which
was forierly used as a hotel, but then the headguarters of
Colonel Fish. Ilere lie was treated with the utmost rigor,
and subjected to all the privations and petty tyranunies that
the ingenuity of the Marshal and lLis officers could invent.
Unfortunately for the honor of the Federal Army, it was
disgraced by too many such officers as assisted Colonel Fish
in hi= netarious work.

After the excitement incident to the Battle of Gettyshurg
Liad =ubsided, part of the prisoners were transferred to Fort
McHenry, in the harbor, and the remaining few, including
the Professor, swwere permitted to provide—at their own ex-
pense

foold and hedding, and thus in a manrer to mitigate
their sufferings. Those who have never been deprived of
their liberty, or felt the restraints of a prison, have no ade-
guate conceprion of the sutferings endured by those who, be
it remembered, were refined and cultivated gentlemen, inostly
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from the higher walks of life, and who were especially sensi-
tive to the treatment which they received at the hands of the
officers in charge. The treatment imposed on prisoners of
state could have had but one object, and that was, to destroy
their manly bearing and self-respect, which it was thought
would, ever after, deter them from expressing their views
concerning any act of the Administration, no matter of how
violent or heinous a nature it might be. This object was
steadily pursued in the majority of cases, and was made par-
ticularly severe in case the victim was a man of more than
average intelligence or influence.

.In the latter part of July, 1803, after about a month’s
jmprisonment, Professor Newman was released, and in his
case, as in thousands of others, no charges were preferred
against him.  Daring the period of his incarceration his pro-
perty was injured, and his library acd apparatus at the
Harford Academy were partially destroyed or carried off by
goldicrs, urged on to this deed of vandalism by some of the
¢ trooly loil” gentlemen of his community, who were carry
ing out their Master’s precept: «Whatsoever ye wculd that
wen should do to you, do ye even so to them.”



